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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Group Strategic Report

The directors present their strategic report for Global Media & Entertainment Limited (formerly This is Global
Limited) and its subsidiaries (the "Group") for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Principal activity

The Group's principal actwlty during the year was the operatlon of commercial radso stations in the United
Kingdom.

Business review

This business review gives greater emphasis to those matters which are significant to Global Media &
Entertainment Limited (the “Company”} and its subsidiary undertakings (i.e. the Group} when viewed as a whole.

The year ended 31 March 2017 was the eigltth consecutive year of growth for the Group with adjusted EBITDA of
£77.8m (as defined in note 2 below), showing an increase of 4.4% on the prior year's figure of £74.5m. Adjusted -
EBITDA margin fell from.27% to 26%. The Group continues to make a statutory loss.

The main reason for the increase in profitability was the 4.8% growth in our commercial revenues in the. year. For
the year ended 31 March 2017 our commercial revenues increased by ‘3.5% on a like for like basis, in line wnth
the market which also increased by 3.5% in that same period (source: Radiocentre website).

During the year, Global's radio sta,tcons achieved an average weekly audience of 24.4 milfion Iist,eners_-(sourge:f_ .
RAJAR Q2 2016 — Q1 2017 average). This compares to last year's audience of 23.8 million listeners and reflects
the continuing quality and popularity of our stations. Our stations reached 45% of the UK population on a weekly
basis.

in March 2017 Global launched a third natronal Heart statron as Heart 80s joined Heart and Heart extra. Heart
80s is focused on bringing feel good 80s hits fo the UK market. } ,

Global's Make Some Noise charity continued to raise money for disadvantaged children and young people and to

- give a voice to smaller charities that find it hard to get heard. Global's Make Some Noise raised over £ £3 4m

(2016: £2.6m) in the year, and awarded grants to.more than 34 charities and projects across the UK,

' In September 2016, the new Glebal Academy. a unwersﬂy technical college 16 provide academic and vocetwnai :

training for students who want to work in the broadcast and digital media industries, opened its doors for the first
intake -of students for the start of the-academic year. The Global Aeedemy was formally opened by their Royal
nghnesses the Duke and Duchess of Carnbndge and Prince Harry. :

We have oont:nued to expand our Digital Auduo Exchange {"DAX"} following the success of its launch two years

- ago. DAX gives advertisers a single buying point to access the digital audio market. We have now expanded the

service and more than 180 audio platforms are offering their advertising via DAX and in excess of 350 brand
campaigns a month are now broadcast using the DAX platform. .

The Group has acquired a number of entities which operate music festivals. This is part of theJGroup's strategy to
expand into the festival sector. The full financial impact of these atbquisitions will be reflected ‘in the Group's.
2017718 finantial resuits, because the majority of the acquired festivals took place before the Group had eequured
the festival entities. 4

The directors noted that the strong commerciat financial performance, combined with the continued high quality
programming output of our stations and successful entry into the festival sector, represented an extremely
suocessﬁrl year for the Group

During the year £114,383,383 of Ioans wers’ oonverted to 114,383,383 ordmary £1 shares which were issued,
called up and fully paid. } }

Financial performance

Tha censolidated income staternent is set out on page 9 and shows revenue for the year ended 31 March 2017
of £302.6m, an increase of 9.6% on last year's figure of £276.2m. Operating profit of £51.6m decreased.by £8.5m
cornpared to last year's figure of £60.1m. There has been an increase in amortisation from £5.4m to £12.9m,

-~ which is largely atiributable to the acquisition of festivals in the year. Operating profit is stated after chargmg

depreciation of £4.3m (2016; £4.1mi) and amortisation of £12.9m (2016: £5.4m). The loss before taxation of
£3.1m (2016 £9.9m) has decreased mainly due to movements in the fair value of the loans and mterest on

. shareholdér and other loans.

The directors consider that adjusted EBITDA (as deﬁned in note 2 below) represents a key measure of the
“BUSINESs performance as it gemansiraies 1e undérying tFading pefformance. The results for the year set ot
below show growth of £3.3m (4.4%} in adjusted EBITDA from £74.5m in 2016 to £77. Bm for the year ended 3

March 2017.




Gilobal Media & Entertainment Limited
Group Strategic Report (continued)

Financial performance (continued)

Yearended 31 Year ended 31
March 2017 March 2016

£m £m
Radio broadcasting ' 267.1 2547
Other revenue : : : 238 21,5
Music festivals . 17 -
Total revenue 302.6 276.2
Direct costs (note 1) : 66.7 48.7
Gross profit 235.9 226.5
Other operating costs ’ - 158.1 152.0
Adjusted EBITDA (note 2) _ 77.8 74.5

Note 1: Direct costs exclude depreciation, amortisation and charges or credits relating to non-recurring items
including restmctunng and integration costs such as launch costs including rebranding, redundancy costs and
vacant property provisions. This is consistent with prior year.

Note 2: Adjusted EBITDA comprises eamings before interest, tax, depreclatlon and amortisation and is stated
before any charges or credits relating to non-recurring items including restructuring and integration costs such as
launch costs including rebranding, redundancy costs and vacant property provisions. This is consistent with prior
year. .

Going concern

At 31 March 2017 the Group had net liabilities of £347.0m (2016: £455.6m). The directors confim fhat, after
making enquiries, they have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to confinue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concemn basis of
accounting in preparing these financial statements. Further information around the assessment of going concern
can be found in note 1 of the financial statements.

Future developments

The directors believe that the current level of activity will continue for the foreseeable future although the outiook
for the UK market is uncertain. The directors continue to explore a number of opportunities to grow and expand
the existing business.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks faced by the business can be divided into operational, commercial, financial and credit nsks
The risks are monitored and managed ata Group level and by local management teams.

Operational risk

Audience levels at the Group's stations could erode the Group's position, both in local markets and in the nationai
marketplace if they were 1o decline. To address this, the Group markets its radio brands regulary and continually
-strives to improve programming standards ta increase audiences. The Group carties out research on its listeners,
building profiles of theif likes and dnsukes and uses this to develop both the sound of the stations, and the music

they play. -

The performance of festivals could be negatively impacted by poor weather which could resuit in less festival day
revenues, due to lower attendance at the festival and festival attendees spending less time at the festival. The
Group has fried to mitigate this risk by acquiring a portfolio of festivals which occur across a number of different

dates.
Commercial risk

There is a risk that weakness in the advertising market could put pressure on traditional revenue streams. To
address this, the Group has been developing its relationship with advertisers and agencies to ensure that the value
of its brands is fully realised. This includes offering tailored solutions to advertisers and highlighting the breadth of
our products, which was enhanced during the year with the addition of a number of music festivals. The
development of new media opportunities is at the heart of the Group’s strategy, which over time wili reduce the
pressure on our traditional revenue generators.




Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Group Strategic Report (continued)
Commercial risk (continued)_

Whilst the impact of the United Kingdom leaving the European Union is uncertain and hard to assess, based on
current UK growth forecasts there is a risk that our revenues will be lower than forecast. In addition, there are other
related factors which affect the Group, for example, the impact of a teugher UK business environment on interest
rates and therefore long-term bond yields and the group pension liabilities.

Financial risk

- The Group is primarily funded by both related party and bank debt. Bank debt has been reduced in the year. The
Group's operations are cash-generative, and general exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be low. The Group
monitors performance against its banking covenarits on a quarterly basis.

Credit risk

The Group actrvely mitigates the risk of payment default by its customers by the use of trade credlt insurance and
by reviewing outstandmg payments and provisions for payment default regularly.

Fmanclal Instruments
The Group s. risk management process and the policies for mitigating certain type of risks are set out in note 20.

Details of the ﬁnancual instruments used for these purposes are in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
Key performance indicators

The business uses key performance indicators which are monitored on a regular basis and include audience trenids
such as-weekly reach,.listening hours, share of the market and demographic mix, festival ticket sales, as well as
financial indicaters -such-as revenue, adjusted EBITDA and operating margins. Variance analysns is performed
monthly and variances are monitored and discussed within a formal meetmg structure.

This report was approved by the Board and s|gned on its behalf by

O Spre

D.D: Sifiger {
Director
31 July 2017




Glohal Media & Entertainment Limited

Directors’ Report

The directors present the directors' report and the financial statements of the Group and the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2017.

Results and dividends

The less for the year, after taxation and non-controlling interests, amounted to £0.8m (2016: loss of £7.9m). The
directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend {2016: £nil).

Directors
The directors who served ‘during the year and to the date of this report were:

Lord Allen of Kensington CBE (Chairman)
A.D. Tabor OBE

S.G. Miron

R.F.J Park

M. Gordon

W. Harding

{.L. Hanson

D.D. Singer

Political and charitable contributions

The Group is involved with @ number of charities that are linked to its radio operations and during the course of the
financial year, the Group's charities were involved in fundraising activities which generated £3.4m {2016: £2.6m)
for its own and rmany other third-party causes. The Group's charities also received funding of £2.8m (2016: £0.6m)
for charitable initiatives.

As well as providing significant radio airtime to promote the activities and events of its chatities, the Group provides
a number of services to these charities, including the use of offices and administration services, free of charge.

The Group’s donations to charities amounted to £377,600 (2016: £50,124). No contributions were made to political
organisations. The charitable and political donations of the Company amounted to £nil (2016: £nil).

Future developments

The directors believe that the current level of activity will continue for the foreseeable future and they look forward
to a return to stable growth in the wider UK advertising market, notwithstanding the uncertain impact of the UK
exiting the European Union. The directors continue to explore a number of opportunities to grow and expand the
existing business. ‘

Financial instruments

The Group's risk management process and the policies for mitigating certain type of risks are set cut in note 20.
Details of the financial instruments used for these purposes are in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Employee involvement

The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its people and has continued to keep them informed
on matters affecting their employment and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Group and the
Company. This is achieved through formal and informal meetings. Employee representatives are consulted
regularly on a wide range of matters affecting their current and future interests.

Disabled employee#
Applications for employment from disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the abilities of the

applicant concemed. As a people focused business we make sure that we recruit the right person for the job every
time, whatever their background. :

In the event of a member of staff becoming disabled every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the
Group continues and that appropriate adjustments are made. It is the policy of the Group and the Company that
the training, career development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that
of other employees.




Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)
Qualifying third party indémnity provisions

The directors benefit from quallfymg third party mdemmty prows:ons in place. The Group also provided qualifying
third party indemnity provisions to certain dlrectors of associated companies during the financial year.

Mattérs covered in the strategic report

Details of the principal risks faced by the Group, including operational risk, credit risk and liquidity risk are
discussed in the Group. Strategic Report.

Provision of information to the auditor ‘
Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors’ Report is approved has confirmed that;

e so far as that each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group and the
Company's auditor is unaware and

« that each director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of
_any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group and the Company's auditor is aware of that
information. '

Auditor

. Under sect;on 487(2) of the Corﬁparues'Act 2006, Deloitte LLP will be deemed to have been reappointed as
auditor 28 days after these financial statemenits were sent to members or 28 days after the latest date prescnbed
for filing the accounts with the registrar, whichever is earlier.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by

) Spig—

D.D. Singe

Director
31 July 2017




Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financiat
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and the parent company financial statements in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law}, including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework™. Under company law the
directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:
. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
. make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. state whether applicable UK Acgounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and :

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis uniess it is inappropriate tb presume
that the company will continue in business.

In preparing the group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:

. properly select and apply accounting policies;

. present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable infarmation;
. provide additional disciosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are

insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and.
conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and '

. make an assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient io show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
and enable them to ensure that.the financial statements comply with the' Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.




Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Independent Audltor s Report to the Members of Global Media & Entertainment
Limited

We have audiled the financial stafements of Global Media & Entertainment Limited for the year ended 31 March 2017 which
comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of Comiprehensive Income, the Group and Parent Company
Statement of Financial Position, the Group and Parent Statement of Changes in Equity and the Group Statement of Cash
" Flows ‘and the related-notes 1 to 39. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation-of the Group
financial statements is applicable law and Intemnational Financial,Reporling Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Aocotmung Practice},
including FRE 101 “Reduced Disciosure Framework”. .

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them In an auditor's reépert-and ‘for no ather purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone otfier than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opmlons we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of diréctors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a frue and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an
opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Intemational- Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us 1o cornply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors. -

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstalement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of: whether the accourting policies are appfoprigte o thé Group's and the parent company’s
circumstances -and have been congistently applied and adequalely disclosed; the reasonableness. of significant accounting
estimates made by1he directors; and the overall presentation of the ﬁnancial statements An adanJon. we read all the financial
and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and
to identtfy any information that is apparently maierially incorrect based. on, or materially incongistent with; the knowledge
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of .any apparent material misstatements or
:noonslslencles we cansider the implications for our report.

Opinlon-on nnancial mments
In our opinton: ‘
. the firiancial slatements give a true and fair view of the state of the Gmups and of the parent oompanrs affalrs asat 31
- ‘March 2017 and-of the Groip's Ioss for the-year then-ended;
.. E:e Group ﬁnanual statements have been properiy prepared Il‘l aocordance wiﬂ‘l IFRSs as adopted by the- European
‘Union; - )

. the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accmdanoe with Unlted Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

. - the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Compames Act 2006.
Opinion on other matiers prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based-on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

.* - the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and .

. the Strategic Report and the Direciors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirementé.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we
have not identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report.

Matters on which we are required to feport by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the follomng matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us fo report to you if, in
‘our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

. the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retumns; or
. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. .

A Yo

Andrew Evang (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

Reading, United Kingdom
T3Muy2017




Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Group Income Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Revenue

Direct costs

Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Operating profit

Finance income
Finance expense

Net finance costs

Sharé of profit of equity-accounted investees, net' of tax
Loss before taxation '

Income tax credit

Loss for the year

Arributable to:

Owmners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Year ended 31 Year ended 31

March 2017 March 2016

Note £'000 £'000
2 302,634 276,247
 (66,679) (49,714)

235,955 226,533

{184,392) {166,410)

51,563 60,123

7 15,713 1,637
8 (70,962) (72,301)
(55,249) (7d,664)

12 605 672
(3,081) {9,869)

9 2,279 1,843
(802) (7.926)

(1,678) (9,103)

776 1,177

{802) (7,926)

“The notes on pages 14 to 43 form part of these financial staterments.




Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Group Statement'_of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Year endoed 31 Year ended 31

Note March 2017 ‘March 2016
£'000 £'000

Loss for the year . (802) (7,928}
h‘qéns that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Actuariai foss related to the perision scheme 26 (2,285) (1,135)
Defefred tax on actuarial loss 18 447 204
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (2,640) {8,857)
Total comprehenslive loss for the year ' (2,640) ~ {8,857)
Arributable to _
Owiners of the Company ' ' (3.416) (10,034)
Non-controlling interests - S . 776 1,177

' (2,640) (8,857)

The notes on pages 14 to 43 form part of these financial statements.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Group Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2017 .
Registered number: 06251684

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Equity accounted investments
Investments

Surplus on defined benefit pension scheme
Deferred tax asset

Current assets.

Current tax assets

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

. Total assets

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Bomrowings

Provisions

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities
Net liabilities

EQUITY
Share capital
Retained deficit

Arributable to:
Shareholders funds
Non-controHing interests
Total equity

The notes on pages 14 to 43 form part of these financial statements.

Note

10
1
12
13
26
18

14

15
16
17

15
16
17
18

19

31 March

31 March 2017
2016

£000 £000
417,939 337,953
26,117 24,107
1,797, - 756
5,780 5,780
1,392 3,524

- 5:285
452,025 377,405
111 379
64,118 46,147
41,338 35,722
105,567 82,248
557,592 459,653
95,309 49,548
48,978 42,297
1,519 1,221
143,806 93,066
16,679 -
742,047 820,872
1,202 1,336
2,517 -
762,445 . 822,208
906,251 915,274

!348l859l !455,621 )

165,310
(513,969)

49,167
(504,788)

‘ !348|659! (455,621)

(360,787)  (456,835)
12,128 1214
(348,659)

54555621 )

The financial statements were approved and auﬁhorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 July 2017 and

were signed on its behalf by:
i , 4/

D.D. Singer

Director

31 July 2017

"
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Group Statement of Chan.gés in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Share capital . Put option Retained Total Non- Total equity
reserve deficit controlling
Note interests
. £000 £000 _£000 £000 £000 £000
At1 April 2018 - - - {495,967) (495,967) 1,180 (404,787)
Loss for the year .. - - (8,103) (2,103) - (8,103)
Non-controlling interest share of profit - - .- - 1,177 ' 1,477
Shanes issued in the_year 18 49,167 - - 49,187 . - 49,167
Actuarial iose related o the pension scheme 26 - : (1.138) (1136) . (1:136)
Defecrad tax on actuaiial loss .18 - - 204 204 - 204
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - - - - (1,143) {1.143)
At 31 March 2016 . ‘ 49,167 - i506!002) (456|8352 1.!14 '455|621l
At 1 April 2018 - 48,167 - (506,002) {456,835) 1,214 ~(455,821)
Shares issued in the year 19 . 116,142 - - 116,143 - 116,143
Loss for the year . - - {1.578) (1,578) , - (1.578)
Non-controfling interest share of profit - . - - - : 776 e
Dividends paid to non-controling interests - - - - {1,385). (1,395)
Non-controlling inisrests acquired.during the _ . . . 1533 11,533
year -
Actusriat loss relaisd 1o the pensich schame 26 - - (2285) (2789 - (2,285)
Fair value of put option payments . - (16,879} - (16,679) - (16,679)
Deferred tax on actuarial loss ’ 18 - - 47 447 - 447
At 31 March 2017 usluo (MS) |509¢1!' PEOITST) : 12I1 iwlml

The notes on pages 14 to 43 form part of these financial statements.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Group Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Yearended 31  Year ended 31

Note March 2017 March 2016
£000 £000 -
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year (802) (7,926)
Adjustments for: '
Depreciation 11 4,269 4,141
Amortisation 10 12,881 5,365
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1" 96 -
Net finance costs 55,249 70,664
Share of profits of equity accounted investments 12 (605) (672)
Movement in retirement benefit obligations 427 (74)
Profit on disposal of equity accounted investments (1,712) -
Income tax credit (2,279) (1,943)
67,524 - 69,555
Changes in: : ‘
Trade and other receivables (5,106) (3,729)
Trade and other payables . 20,280 (2,755)
Provisions 164 (1,203)
Cash generated from operating activities ’ 82,862 ' 61,868
interest paid {4,234) (5.655)
Income taxes paid {194) _(375)
Net cash from operating activities 78,384 © 55,838
Cash Rows from investing activities
Interest received - . 28 . 80
Dividends received from associates 12 186 : 757
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired {30,164) (4,825)
Acquisition of investments ‘ - (5,600)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 {4,536) ~ {9,031)
Acquisition of intangible assets 10 (26,750) (6,223)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries {1,250) -
Proceeds from disposal of equity accounted investments 873 -
Investments in equity accounted investments - 12 (679) -
(62,202) (24,842)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 19,336 -
Repayments of loans and borrowings (29,732) (37,228)
Payment of debt issue costs ‘ (443) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 21 {1,395) (1,143)
New shares issued during the year 19 1,758 -
‘ (10,476) (38,371)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7 5!516 ' $7i375!
‘Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year , 35,722 43,097
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 41,338 35,722

The notes oh pages 14 to 43 form part of these financial statements.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Group Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies

a) Reporting entity

Global Media & Enterfainment Limited- (the “Company”) is an incorporated company limited by shares and
domiciled in the United Kingdom. Its registered address is 30 Leicester Square, London, WC2H 7LA.

These consolidated financial statements are for the Giobal Media & Entertainment Limited group (the “Group™)
and they comprise the Company and its subsidiaries which are listed in full in note 37 of the Company financial
statements.

" The Group's principal activity during the yéar was the operation of commercial radio stations in the United

Kingdom.
The Group financial statements were apbroved by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2017.
b) Statement of compliance ' '

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (*IFRS") and the Companies Act 2006,

¢) Functional and présentational currency

These financial statements are presented in pounds Sterling (£), which is the Group and the Company’s functional
and presentational currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless ctherwise indicated.

d) Basis of preparation

The ﬁnancia1 staferents have been prepared on a historical cost basis. The accounting policies set out below
have been applied consistently to the Group to all periods presented in these ﬁnanclal statements.

e) Basis of consolidation

The Group financial stetements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. The

financial statéments of subSidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company using
consistent accounting policies.

A subsudlary is an entity controiled, either directly or mdlrectly, by the Company. An investor controls an investee
when it is xposed, or has.rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its. power over the investee.

The nesults ofa subsmlery acquired during the period are included in the Group’s results from the effective date
on which control is transferred to the Group. All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised
profits arising from intra-Group transactions, have been eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets at the

date of transition.
f Intemts in equlty-accounted Invesiments
The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise mterests in associates and joint ventures.

Assocnates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the
financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby
the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement rather than rights to its assets and obilgatlons for its
liabilities. :

Interests in associates and the joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially.

recoghised at cost, which hchides transdaction costs. Subségquent to inifial recognition, the consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensrve income of equity-accounted
investees;, until- the.date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

g) CajI ram:‘l put ppﬂons

Valuation of call and put options

When the Group enters in to call or put options to purchase equity, the fair value of the option is recorded on the
statement of financial position. Any subsequent movement in the fair value of the option is taken to profit and loss.

Put opﬁon reserve
The put option reserve ls the estlmeted cost of setﬂmg the Group's put ophons for non-controlling mterest

stiaretioidings.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)
1. Accounting policies (continued)
h) New accounting standards and interpretations not yet effective

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB") became effective during the year ended 31 March 2017. The accounting
policies adopted in the presentation of these financial statements reflect the adoption of the foliowing new
standards, amendments to standards and interpretations as of 1 April 2016. These have not has any material
impact on the financial statements.

« Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and 1AS 28: Investment Entities — Applying the Consolidation
Exception (effective date 1 January 2016)
Standards effective in future periods
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are

relevant to the Group's activities and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning after 31
January 2016 or later and which the Group has decided not to adopt early.

¢ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (will become effective for accounting periods starting on or after 1
January 2018)

¢ IFRS 15 Revenus from contracts with customers {will become effective for accounting pericds
starting on or after 1 January 2018}

The Group has completed an initial review of these standards and the introduction of these standards is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Group. '

i} Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in this note, the directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readify apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongomg basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, orin the penod
- of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

The foliowing are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately
below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting pollcues and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

Iimpairment of goodw:ll, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

These assefs are reviewed annually for impairment or more frequently if there is an indication of impairment to
ensure that they are not camied above their estimated recoverable amounts. To assess if any impairment exists,

estimates are made of the future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual dlsposal

Actual outcomes could vary from such estimates of dlsoounted future cash flows.

Onarous lease provision

Where a leased property is o longer expected to be fully occupied or where the costs exceed the future expected
benefits, an onerous lease provision will be recognised for that portion of the lease that is in excess to the Group’s
requirements and not fully recovered through sub-leasing, or through value in use. The actual future expected
costs could vary from the estimated provision.

Income taxes

Estimates may be required in detemining the level of current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities, which
the directors believe are reasonable and adequately recognise any income tax related uncertainties. Various
factors may have favourable or adverse effects on the income tax assets or liabilities. These include changes in
tax legislation, tax rates and allowances, future levels of spending, the Group’s level of future earings and
estimated future taxable profits.

BEPs legislation is expeéied to be substantively enacted for the 201 7/18 tax year, this is expected to reduce the
level of the Group's intérest deductible for tax purposes.

The Group had an Advanced Thin Cépitalisation Agreement ("ATCA") with HMRC which expired on 31 March
2016. As the Group and HMRC have not agreed a new ATCA the tax expense has been calculated using
management's best judgement based on the principles underlying the previous agreement.

impairment of trade receivables

The Group is required to make an estimate of the recoverable value of trade receivables. When assessing known
impairment of trade receivables, management considers the age profile of receivables as well as any specific
known problems or risks.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)
1. Accounting policies (continued)

i) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Useful economic life of asseis

The Group's policy for applying useful economic Ilves and resudual valuss of assets has been determmed through
applying historical experience and taking into consideration the nature of assets and their intended use.

Control over the Group’s subsidiaries

The Group must assess whether it controls its subsidiaries when determining whether to consolidate the
subsidiaries.

The Group's Influence over assoclates

- The Group must assess whether it has significant mﬂuence over its associates when determmmg whether it
should equity account for the associates.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA comprises eamings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and is stated before any
charges or credits relating to non-recurring items including restructuring and integration costs such as launch
costs including rebranding, redundancy costs and vacant property provisions. This is consistent with prior year.

J§] Going concern ,
At 31 March 2017 the Group had net liabilities of £348.7m (2016: £455.6m).

The Group has prepared forecasts of expected future cash flows for the three years ending 31 March 2020 ("the
foracasts™). The Board considers the forecasts haye been prepared on a prudent basis taking info account current
consensus forecasts of the radio advertising market However, the Group has also prepared a worse than ’
expected downside scenario. Even under this sensitised scenario, the forecasts indicate that the Group can
continue to trade for the foreseeable future and operate within its facility and the associated financial covenants.

The direciors-consider it appropriate to prepare the financial s!atements on agoing concem basis. The directors’
forecasts show sufficient cash will be generated from the Group s operatcons to be able to repay the bank loan
and other-obligations as they fall due.

k)  Segment reporting

A segment is a component of the Group that engages-in business activities from which it may eam revenues and
incur expenses, including révenues and-expenses that relate to transactions with-any of the Group's other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are roviewed ragulany by the Group's board of diractors to
make decisions about resources to be allocated to a segment and assess its performance, and for whlch dlscrete
financial information is available (see note 2).

}} Fomign -currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into pound Sterling, the Group's functional currency, using the
exchange rates prevalllng at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
currency translation gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the-transiation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. are recognised.in
the Income Statement. Foreign currency. transiation gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash
equivalents are pr;esenied in the Income Statement within finance income or finance expense. Al other foreign
currency translation gains and losses are presented in the Income Statement within direct costs and
adiinistrafive expenses.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operatlons including. goodwill and fair value adjuslmenis arising on
consohdahan are tmnslatad to the Group’s functional currency, Stemng, at foreign currency exchange rates ruling
atthe reportlng data

The revenues and exbenses of forelgn operations are translated atan average rateé for the penod whlch
approximates the foreign cumrency exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Exchange differences
arising from the translation of foreign operations are reported in other comprehensive income.

m) Investments

Investmonts- amneluded-mhe—Stahementwaf-FmanaakPesmén (ar—Balanoe-Sheet) -at-cost less-amounts-written--
off, representing impairment in value. impsirment ¢harges are r'eoordad if events or changes'in cmcumstances
indicate that the carrying vaiue may not be recoverable.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)
1. . Accounting policies (continued)
n) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost
includes the original purchase price of the assets and costs aftributable to bringing the asset to its working
condition for its intended use.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated at rates calculated to write off the cost less residual value of each
asset over its useful economic life on a straight line basis over the following periods:

Freehold property ‘ 25 to 50 years

Capitalised iéasehold costs Over the term of the Iease
Fixtures, fittings and technical equipment 3 to 10 years -
Transmitters 10 years

Gains and losses on disposéls of assets are calculated as the difference between the proceeds received and the
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal and are recognised in profit or loss. :

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Impairment reviews of property, plant and eguipment are undertaken whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate their camying value may not be recoverable: If the fair value of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amourit, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. Where an impairment-
loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount is increased to the revised estimate, but restricted so that the
increased amount does not exceed the camying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Any impairment losses or reversals are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

0) .  Intangible assets
Software costs

Purchased software costs are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cosis
associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred.

‘Software development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique
software products confrolled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

- itis technigally feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

- management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

- there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

- it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future econemic benefits;

- adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
software product are available; and

- the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Software costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives of three years. Acquired
domain names are amortised over seven years. ‘ ,

Radio licences

Radio licences are valued at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Radio
licences are amortised over the period of the I:oenoa

Festival brands -
The Group's festival brands are amortised on a straight line basis over their useful economic lives of seven yearé.
Impairment of intangible assets (excluding goodwill)

Impairment reviews are undertaken whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate their carrying value
may not be recoverable. 1f the fair value of an intangible asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount is increased to the revised estimate, but restricted so that the increased amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Any impairment losses or reversals are recognised immediately in the Income Statement.

P) Goodwill

‘Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The costs of an acquisition is measured
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at the acquisition date fair value and the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the aoqulree Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and inciuded in
administrafive expenses.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value will be recognised either within the Income Statement or in other
comprehensive income.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Group Financial Stafements (continued)
1) Accounting policies (continued) '
P Goodwill (continugd)

Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over
the Giup's iftarest in the net fair value of the idéntifiable assets, Tiabiliies and contingent liabiifies. ldéntifiable
intangible assets, meeting either the contractual-legal or separability criterion are recognised separatsly from
goodwill. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill in respect of an acquired subsidiary is recognised as an intangible asset. Goodwill in respect of an

. acquired associate or joint venture is included within investments accounted for using the equity method.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired.

Where the fair value of the interest acquired in an entity’s assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the
consideration paid, the excess is recognised immediately as a gain in the Income Statement. .

As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash—generatmg units expected to
benefit from the combination's synergies. Impaiment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash genérating unit, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is.
less than-the carfying amount, an impaiment léss is recognised. Where goodwill forms part of a cash generating’

unit and part.of the vpsration within that unit is dispdsed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of -

is included-in the carrying amount of the operation when detemmining the gain or loss on disposal-of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the pertion of the cash generating unit retained.-

q) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised mltually at fair valUe, which is deemed to be the transaction price.
Subsequently, trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any prov:suon for rmpau'ment . .

r) Cash .
Cash and cash-equivalents oorhpnses cash baltances and- money market deposlfs Bank overdrafts that are

' repayable on-demand and formn an’integral part of the Group's cash.management are included as. acompcment of
_cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows ,

8) Share capltal
Ordinary shares

Ordinafy shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordlnary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects

Share premium

The share prarmum sccount represems the armnount subscrbed for share capita1 In axcess of namlnal value less
any costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares.

Retalnad.deﬂcit. ‘ . _

The retained deficit represents the cumulative net gains and losses recognised in the Income _St?’gg_rn_ep}
Dividends | | ' '
Dmdands on ord:naly share capital are recognised as a liability in the Group s financial staternents in the penod in

"which they &re tléciared. I the case of interim dividends, 1hese afe coneidersd to be deciared wheri they arepaid

and in the case of ﬁnal dividends these are declared when autherised by the shareholders. -
t) den and othor payables

Trade payables are .ob'lgatmns to pay | for goods or sefvices that have been acquired in the ordlnary course of

,,,,,

buslne§§ ﬂ"o‘m & pliers. Ti
e i uggd pay; clgsd

ctherwigé they are pnéSént‘ad as non-current Ifébllmés

u) Bommings

Vpayables ae naoogmsed |n|tia1ly at fair value and sdbsequehﬂy measured at

Fees paid on the establushment of Ioan facllmas are recogmsed as u'ansactmn cos!s ofthe Ioan m ﬂqa»extam; thaut'
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the e:d:ent thereis no evidence ‘that it is probatiie that sofneor all of the facility will be drawn down; the
fee is capitalised a8 a pra-bayment for iquidity Sefvices and al‘nor‘hsed over the perlod of the facifity t6-which it

_ relates.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)
1) Accounting policies (continued)

v) Finance income and expense
Finance income comprises interest received on ¢ash balances.

Finance expense comprises interest payable on borrowings, amortisation and write off of debt issuance costs and
the unwinding of the discount on non-current provisions.

Interest is reooghlsed in profit or loss as it accrues, ‘using the effective interest rate. Interest payable on
borrowings includes a charge in respect of aftributable transaction costs, which are recognised in profit or Ioss
over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

w) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is initially recognised at fair value on the Statement of Financial Position when the entity
becomes party to the confractual provisions of the instrument. A-financial instrument is derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows expire or substantively all risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. A
financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

. Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial jiabilities are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

x) Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Income Statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly i in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantlvely enacted at the
reporting date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax retumns with respect fo situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the Statement of Financial Position. However, deferred tax liabilites are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws} that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Statement of Financial Position date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settiod.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are prowded on taxable temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, except for deferred incomeé 1ax liabilities where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries only to the extent that it is probable the femporary difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit avaitable against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net baS|s )

y) Employee beneflts
Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related sén'.-ice is provided. A liability is recognised for the
. amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no fonger withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for 2 restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37
Provisions, conlingent liabilities and conlingent assets (*|AS 37”) and involves the payment of termination benefits.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 1 year after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to their present value.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited
Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)

1. Accounting policles (continued) :
) Employee benefits (continued)
Defined contribution pension scheme

The Group operates employee optional stakeholder retirsment and death benefit schemes Both employee and
employers are required to make contributions with the employers’ contributions for each employee determined by
the level of contribution made by the employee and the employee’s length of service within the Group or
subsidiary company. The employer's contributions are charged to profit and loss in the year in which the
contributions are due.

Defined benefit penslon scheme

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme which requires contributions to be made to separately
administered funds. The cost of providing benefits under the plan is determined using an lndependent actuarial
valuation. This is based on the projected unit credit method ‘and’is recognlsed in accordance with the advice of a
qualified actuary Past service costs resulting from' enhanced benefits are recognised on a strelght-lme basis over
the vesting period or immediately if the benefits have vested.

Re-measurement gains and losses, and taxation thereon, are recognised in other comprehensive income and are
not reclassified to profit or lcss in subsequent periods. Re-measurements comprise actuarial gains and losses, the
return on plan assets {excluding amounts inciuded in net interest) and changes in the amount of any asset
restrictions. Actuarial gains and losses may result from differences between the actuarial assumptions undertying
the plan fiabilitiés and actual expenenoe durlng the year or ohanges in the assumptlons uséd in the veluatlon of
the plan liabilities.

The defined benefit liability or asset recognised in the Statement of Financial Position (or Balance Sheet)
comprises the present value of the benefit obllgehon usnng a discount rateé based on approprlate high quality
corporate bonds at the reportlng ‘date, miinus ary past service costs nat yet récognised, minug: the fair value of
the plan assets, if sny, at the reporting date. WHirs the plan s in surplus, the asset recognised is limited to the
amount which the Group expects to recover by way of refunds or reduction in future contributions.

z) Share based payments’ : S

The Gnoup has a jong temm incentive shere soheme under which it makes equity-settied share-based payments to
eligible.employees. The cost of equity-settied share-based payments aré measured at fair value at the date of
grant and recognised as an expense over the vestmg period, which ends on the date on whlch the employees
become fully entitied to the reward.

Fair value is estimated using appropriate models for the particular awards under consideration. In valuing equity
sattied transactions, No account Is takan of any vesting conditions, other than the performance conditions linkad to
the price ofthe shares of the Company (market conditions). Any other conditions which are required to be met in
order for an employee to become fully entitled to an award are oonsideved to be non-vesting conditions. These are
also taken into acoount in deten'mmng the grant date fajr value.

- No expenseﬁmoogmsed-forawandsmatdo net ulimately vest, except for-equity-settied tansacttons where:
vesting:is conditional upon a market or non-vestmgcondmon which are treated as vesting irespective of whether
or net the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Ateach rapoﬁhnglﬂatebefom vesting, the cumulatme expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the.
vesting.period has expired and-management's best estimate of the number of the- achievement or otherwise of
non-market vesting conditions and of the number of equity instruments that will ultlmately vest or, in the case of an
instrument subject to a.market condition, be ireated as vesting. The movement in-cumulative expense since the.
previous reporting 9ate is rTécognised T the 1noome Statement, ‘with a correspeénding entry in eqaity.

Where the terms of an equity-settied payments award are modified or a new award is desngnated as replacinga - .

" cancelied or settled award, the cost based on the original award terms continues to be recognised over the
original vesting period. In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new vestm,g period for the
incremental fair valus of the modification, based on the difference between the fair value 'of original award and the
fair value of the-modified award, both as measured at the date of modification. No reductlon is recognised if this
dlfferenoe is negative. -

Where an equity-settied award is ¢a elnoelled {whére nori-vesting conditions within the control of either the enlﬂy or
the employee are not met), it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is expensed immediately. Any compensatlon paid up to the fair value of the award at the
cancellation or §éWismernit date i déducted from equity, \ Wlﬂ'l | dny excess over fair value being treated as an '
expenge i the Inoome Btatement.
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Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)
1. Accounting policies (continued)

aa) Provisions
Provisions for onerous leases, restructuring costs, legal claims and other future costs are recognised when:

- the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
- itis probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
- the amount has bgen reliably estimated

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to seitle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects cument market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

bb) Revenue recognition
Revenue is stated excluding any value added tax, agency commissions and trade discounts.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will fiow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. Key classes of revenue are recognised on the following basis:

Radio advertising Date of broadcast

Sponsorship Over the term of the contract
Internet revenue Over the term of the contract
Transmission fees Over the term of the contract
Production of adveris On date of release to clients
Enterprise revenue On agreed settiement with all parties
CD revenue On sale of CD

Festival ticket revenue On the day of the festival
Festival non-ticket sales At the point of sale

Revenue on barter transactions is recognlsed only when the goods or services being exchanged are of a similar
nature.

cc) Leases

The Group is both a lessor and lessee of property, plant and equipment.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating
leases. Operating lease rental expenditurefincome is charged to the income Statement on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. )

Lease incentives are recorded as a liability and then recognised over the lease term on straight-line basis in the
income Statement as a reduction of rental expense.

dd) Fair value measurement

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Set out below is an analysis of the valuation method of the
Group’s financial instruments:

The different levels in the fair value hierarchy have been defined as follows:
= Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

LIS

* Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable, for the asset or -
liability, either directly {i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

» Level 3; inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs)

The Group has no assels or liabilities where fair values have been determined for measurement purposes.

Borrowings (level 3)

Borrowings, as disclosed in note 16 and note 20, is calculated as the present value of the estlmated future cash
fiows based on the terms and maturity the loan and using market interest rates as applicable for a similar
instrument at the measurement date.

ee} Financial guarantee contracts

Where the Group enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies
within the Group, the Group considers these to be insurance arrangements, and accounts for them as such. In
this respect, the Group treats the guarantee contact as a contingent liability untit as such time as it becomes
probable that the Group will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)
2. Operating segments

The Group’s chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Board of directors. The Board of directors
review the Group's internal reporting on a monthly basis in order to assess performance and aliocate resources.

" Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports used by the Board. The Board mainly
assesses performance based on adjusted EBITDA. -

The Group has two reportable segments being commercial radio broadcasting in the United Kingdom and music

festivals. Other operations includes events, adverhsmg commission, television and cd sales. None of these
segments met the quantitative thresholds for reportable segments in the 2016 or 2017 financiat years.

The Group's operations are virtually all completed in the United Kingdom, the Group’s operations outside the
United Kingdom are not significant.

All transactions between segments are completed on an ams-length basis.

The Group is not reliant on any major customers and no single customer provides more than 10% of Gmup
revenue.

Commancial radic bvoadonsting Wumic Tastiie Otwar parations. Toiad
Yaie anaiad 39 Mutch Your snded 31 Murch Viaar anced 31 March Yesr srded 31 March 'h-'mﬂ Masch Year snded 3 Memh Y-r-ﬂd"l-ﬂdl Yaar andad 34 Mamch
T xn a7 w18 AT e oM.
Towd revaces NIAT 254,008 14,701 . nan 21,548 [T 276247
Isas Inlar-sagneert nevenus: - . . - -
Revenus Som setemel cusiomers f AL 254,000 A N 21580 W03.654 THAT_
Tincl svels ] C e )
Groms poolt - T )
Cparaling wpenses . . 1.5 . (151399
Acjusied ESITDA T 74557
NN dpialabed (-t ] . {148
T T B—
Hat Brance pens ] (T0,084)
Share of proft of agully-seceunied imesiess, net of iax s (]
3. 7 Adjusted EBITDA
' Year ended 31. Year ended 31
March 2017 March 2016
£'000 £'000
Operating profit 51,583 80,123
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,289 4,141
Amortisation of intangibles 12,881 5,365
Other epersting expenses 9,139 4,908
Adjusted EBITDA 77,852 74 537

Other operating expenses comprises any charges or credits relating to non-recuiring items mcludlng restructunng
and lntegrahon ‘costs such as launch costs including rebranding, redundancy costs and vacant property
provnssons Management’s mterpretatlon of other operating expenses remains consistent with pnor year.

4, Operaﬂng profit
Operating profit is stated afier charging/(crediting):

Yearended 31 Year ended 31
March 2017 March 2016
£'000 £'000
Amortisation of intangible assets 12,881 5,365
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,269 4,141
Loss ori disposal of property, plant and equipment 9% -
‘Profit on disposal of equity accounted investrents- {1,743} - I
* Operating ledse rentals:
- land and buildings 5,993 5,516
- motor vehicles and cother leases. 1,155 1,286
Lease income.received (66) (111)
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)
4 Operating profit (continued)
Auditors’ remuneration for audit and non-audit services during the year was:

£000 £000
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates for the
audit of the Company’s annual financial statements ‘ 100 89
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates in respect of:
The auditing of financial statements of associates of the Group 165 96
pursuant to legislation
Other services pursuant to legislation 13 17 .
Taxation compliance services . - 2
All taxation advisory services not included above : 179 68

Corporate finance services : 882 33

5. Employees
The average number of paople employed by the Group (including directors) during the year was as follows:
Year ended 31 Year ended 31

March 2017 March 2016

Number Number
Sales 654 634
Programming 377 382
Administration ) 240 233
’ : ' 1,271 1,249

The aggregate remuneration costs of these employees were as follows:

Year ended 31  Year ended 31
March 2017 March 2016

£'000 £'000

Wages and salaries ) 67,722 62,895

~ Social security costs . 7,187 6,708
Contributions to defined benefit pension schemes 249 333
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes ) . 1,499 1,462

. 76,657 71,398

—dberen

\

6. Directors

The remuneration costs of the Group's directors were:

Yearended 31  Year ended 31
March 2017 March 2018,

£'000 £'000
Remuneration 6,168 10,515
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes - 88
) ) 6,168 10,603

e ——

Number Number
Numnber of directors to whom retirement benefits accrue 3 3
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)
6. Directors (continued)
The remuneration of the highest paid director was:

Yearended 31 -
March 2017 March 2016
- £000 £'000
Aggregate emolumenis 2,362 7,272

Year ended 31

- 2,362

7,272

e

The amounts disclosed above represent the remuneration for the qualifying services of the directors of the Group.

|AS 24 Related parly transactions (“IAS 247) requires the Group to disclose all transacticns and outstanding
balances with the Group's key management personnel. IAS 24 defines key management personnel as those
persons. having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity,
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. -

The key management personnel who are responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
Group are the Group's directors.

During the year a number of directors were granted loans in re!atlon to a cash-settied share-based payment
arrangement. The Ioans are due for repayment on the settlement of the scheme. The loan balances outstand:ng

are:

Yearended 31 Year ended 31
- March 2017 March 2016
£000- £'000
Loans to directors in relatio_n to cash-settled share .
based payment arrangement : 376 375
7. Finance income
Year ended 31  Year ended 31
March 2017 March 2016
£'000 £000
Bank interest receivable 28 80
Interest on pension scheme assets 1,444 1,657
Movement in fair value adjustments on borrowings 14,241 -
: 15,713 1,637
8.  Finance expense
- Yearended 31  Year ended 31
March 2017 March 2016
£000 £000-
Interest payable on bank loans and gverdrafts - 4,286 4,973
Interest payable on other Ioans 64,849 63,782
Movement in fair value adjustments on borrowings - 1,681
_Amortisation of debt issue costs 513 - 482
Interest on pension scheme Ilablhhes 1,314 1,403
70,962 72,301

m
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)

9. Income tax credit

{a) Analysis of tax credit in the period

Current tax expense

UK corporation tax on the loss for the year
Adjustments in respect of prior years
Total current tax expense

Deferred tax credit )
Crigination and reversal of temporary differences
Adjustments in respect of prior years

Total deferred tax credit

Income tax credit

(b) Factors affecting the tax credit in the period

Loss before before tax

Loss hefore tax multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax of
20% (2016: 20%)

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Interest expense not deductible for tax purposes
Recognition of deferred tax on temporary differences
Share of profit of equity accounted investments
Special factors affecting joint-ventures and associates
UK Dividend income from associates

Effects of changes in tax rates

Adjustments in respect of prior years

Income tax credit .

(c) Factors that may affact future tax charge

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
March 2017 March 20186
£'000 £000
256 176
{241) (116)
15 60
(2,447) (2,003)
153 -
{2,294) (2,003)
] !2,279) (1,943)
Yearended 31  Year ended 31
Mairch 2017 March 2016
~ £'000 £1000 -
{3,081) {9,869)
(616) (1,974)
2,412 1,568
{279) - 45
(3,708) (1,646)
(66) 19
(37) (154)
93 315
: (88) (116}
!2!279!, - 51 ,943!

Further changes to the UK Gorporation tax system were announced in the 2016 Finance Bill. The 2016 Finance
Bill includes legislation to reduce the main rate of comoration tax from 19% to 17% from 1 April 2020.

The 2016 Finance Bill was substantively enacted on 6 September 2016.

The tax rates used to measure the deferred tax assets and liabilities recorded in these financial statements are
the tax rates in the period in which we expect the deferred tax assets or liabilities to crystallise.

N
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Notes to the Group Fmanclal Statements (continued)

10. intangible assets

Software Radio Festival
) . ~costs  Licences Brands Goodwill Total
- £7000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
Cost )
At 1 April 2016 19,754 13,032 - 632,784 665,570
Acquisitions - - 58,606 7,511 66,117
" Additions 9,496 - 17,254 - 26,750
Disposals (2,785) C - - - ~ (2,785)
At 31 March 2017 26,485 13,032 75,860 640,205 755,662
Amortisation and fmpairment : :
At 1 April 2016 ‘ T 9,811 1,829 - 315,977 327,617
Charge for the year 5,500 2,218 5,163 - 12,881
Disposals (2,785) .- - - - {2,785)
At 31 March 2017 12,526 4,047 5,163 315,977 337,713
Net book value ,
At 31 March 2017 13,839 slsss ) ‘70!69?“ - 324!318 417!939 :
Software Radio Festival
costs Licences Brands = Goodwill Total
: £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 - £000
Cost ' ‘ ‘ _— o
At 1 Aprit2015 17,268 1,476 - 632,413 651,157
Acquisitions - 11,556 - 37t 11,927
Additions 6,223 - - - 6,223
Disposls (3,737) ) - - - (3,737)
At 31 March 2016 19,754 13,032 - 632,784 665,570
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2015 8317 695 - 315,977 325, 989 )
Charge for the year 4,231 1,134 - - 5,365
Disposals (3,737) - - , - {3,737)
At 31 March 2016 9,811 1,828 - 315,977 327,617
Net book value T
At 1 April 2015 7,951 781 - 316436 325,168
" At 31 March 2016 0,043 11,203 - 316,807 . . 337,953

During the year the Group acquited festival brands with a valué of £58.5Mm. At 31 March 2017 the canying value
of the festival brands was £54.7m and they had remaining useful economic lives of between six and seven years.’
The Group also purchased £17.2m of festivals brands dirgctly which were not part of a business combination.

During the year the Group capitalised £5.3m (2016¢ £6.1m) of software development costs.

The Group completes an impairment review of goodwill annually. In accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of assets
(IAS 36") the Group has completed a review of its operations and determined that the Group has two cash
generating units ("CGU"), being the Commercial Radio Broadcastlng cGU and Music Festivals CGU. For the
purposes of testing. for impaiment the Group’s goodwill is allocated to the CGUs based on the goodwill that
existed on the transactlon date.

The. Group. estimates. the recoverable amount of 2 CGU using a value in use model by projecting prepjax,,caéh,
flows- for the next five years iogether with a términal value using a long term growth rate. The key assumptions
underpinning the recoverable amounts of the CGls tested for impairment are forecast revenue and EBITDA.
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements (con-tinued)
10. Intangible assets (continued)

Commercial Radio Broadcasting CGU goodwill impalrment review

The five year plans used in the impaimment models are based on management's past experience and future
expectations of performance.

The key assumptions used are a pre-tax discount rate of 7.8% (2016: 8.6%), a short to medium term growth rate
of 3% (2016: 3%), and a long term growth rate of 3% (2016: 3%).

The pre-tax discount rate used is derived from a weighted average cost of capital 'WACC") calculation for the
Group and benchmarked against similar organisations operatlng within the sector. The long term growth rate used
does not exceed the average for the sector.

The total recoverable amount in respect of goodwitl, as assessed by management using the above assumptions,
is greater that the carrying amount and therefore no impairment charge has been booked.

Management consider that it is not reasonably possible for the assumptions 1o change so significantly as to
eliminate the excess.

Music Festivals CGU goodwill impairment review

The budgets used in the impairment models are based on festival management's past experience and future
expectations of performance. )

The key assumptions used are a pre-tax discount rate of 7.8% (2016: 8.6%), a short to medium term growth rate
of 3% (2016: 3%), and a long term growth rate of 3% (2016 3%). )

The pre-ax discount rate used is derived from a weighted average cost of capital ("WACC") caiculation for the
Group and benchmarked against similar organisations operating within the sector. The long term growth rate used
does not exceed the average for the secfor.

-

The total riacoverable‘ambunt in respect of goodwill, as assessed by management using the above assumptions,
is greater that the carrying amount and therefore no impairment charge has been booked.

Management consider that it is not reasonably possible for the assumptions to change so significantly as to
eliminate the excess.

27



Global Media & Entertainment Limited
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11.  Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 April 2016
Additions
Acquisitions
Disposals

At 31 March 2017

Depreciation '
At 1 April 2016

Charge for the year

Acquisitions
Disposals ‘
At 31 March 2017

Net book value

' At 31 March 2017

Cost

At 1 Aprit 2015
Additions
Disposals

At 31 March 2016

Depreciation

At 1 April 2015
Charge for the year
Disposals )
At 31 March 2016

Net book value
At 1.April 2015

At 31 March 2016

Transmitters,
- . fixturesand = ) , _
Land and technical Festival Leasehold
buildings equipment assets Improvements Total
- £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
17,720 8,325 ; - 26,045
1,599 2,923 2 12 4,536
- - 606 233 839
(698) (2,464) - - (3,162)
" 18,621 8,784 608 245 28,258
973 965 - - 1,938
1,686 2,568 15 - 4,269 -
(738) (2,328) - - (3,066)
1,9_21 1,205 15 - 3,141
16,700 7579 593 245 25,117
Transmitters,
fixtures and ! '
Land and technical Festival.  Leasehold .
bulldings equipment assets improvements Total
-£2000 - - £'000 £'000 £000 £000
16,605 - 6,391 - - 22,996 .
2,543 6,488 - - '9.031‘
(1,428) - {4,554) - - . (5,082)
17,720 8,325 - - 26,045
801 2,978 - - 3,779
1,600 2,541 . - - 4,141
(1,428) {4,554) - - (5,982)
973 965 - - 1,938
15,804 3,413 - - 19,217
47 7,360 - -

24,107
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12.  Equity accounted investments

Im?eslments in

Investments in

joint ventures associates Total
£'000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 Aprif 2016 312 444 756
Acquired in the year - (897} (897)
Share of profit of equity accounted investments 702 (97) 605 -
Investments in joint ventures 679 - 679
Dividends received from equity accounted investmenis - (186) {186)
Dispasal of equity accounted investments (473) 1,313 840
At 31 March 2017 1,220= 577 1,797
. Investments in Investments In
joint ventures associates Total
£'000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 April 2015 604 238 842
(Decrease)/increase in equity accounted investments (292) 206 (86)
At 31 March 2016 312 444 75‘6==
The Group’s investments in associates are:
% of ordinary share
Name Country capital owzrship
EG Digital Limited UK 48.0
The Digital Radio Group (London) Limited UK 465
Now Digital (East Midlands) Limited UK 27.5
Lost Ventures Limited UK 30.0

On 31 May 2016 the Group acquired 49% of the share capital of Broadwick Holdings Limited. Broadwick Holdings
Limited was accounted for as an equity accounted investment until 20 September 2016 when the Group acquired
an additional 2% of the share capital of Broadwick Holdings Limited. From 20 September 2016 Broadwick
Holdings Limited was controlled by the Group and was therefore accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group. The
30% shargholding in Lost Ventures Limited was purchased as part of the acquisition of Broadwick Holdings
Limited. . :

The Group's investments in joint ventures are:

% of ordinary share
Name Country capital ownership
CE Digital Limited ' UK 50.0
Composed Limited UK 50.0

During the year the Group disposed of its 50% shareholding in Wildstar Records Limited for proceeds of
£873,000.

The registered addresses of the Group's joint ventures and associates are:

Registered Address
Meadia House, Peterborough Business Park, Lynch Wood,
Peterborough, PE2 6EA '
30 Leicester Square, London, WC2H 7LA
Crawley Court, Winchester, Hampshire, S021 20A

Company
EG Digital Limited

The Digital Radio Group (London) Limited
Now Digital (East Midlands) Limited

Lost Ventures Limited 15 Newland, Lincoln, LNt tXG

Wildstar Records Limited 9 Derry Street, London, W8 SHY

CE Digital Limited 30 Leicester Square, London, WC2H 7LA
Composed Limited 364-366 Kensington High Street, London, W14 8NS
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13. Investments

Cost
At 1 Aprit 2016
At 31 March 2017

Provision for impairment
At 1 April 2016
At 31 March 2017

Net book value
At 31 March 2017

Cost

At 1 April 2015
Additions

At 31 March 2016

Provision for impairment
At 1 April 2015
At 31 March 2016

Net béok valae
At 1 April 2015

At 31 March 2016

14. . Trade and other receivables

Gross trade receivables
Less provision for impairment

Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

The following table details the movements in the provision for the impairment of trade receivables:

Balance at the beginnlng of the year
Movement in provision
Balance at the end of the year

Investments Total
£'000 £'000
6,088 6,088
6,088 6,088

308 308
308 308
5,780 w.m
Investments Total
£000 £'000
488 488
. 5,600 5,600
€,088 6,088
308 308
308 308
180 -180
5,780 5,78)0‘ ‘
31 March 31 March™
2017 2016
£'000 £'000
37,683 34,067
{117) (131)
37,566 33,936
5,334 3,638 .
21,218 8,573
. 54,118 45,147
3 March 31 March
2617 . 2016
£'000 £000
131 379
(18) (248)

The carrying value of frada and other receivables is a réasonable approximation of the fair value of trade ard

other reoewablas

There are no material overdue trade recéivables that have not been provided against.
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements {(continued)
15. Trade and other payables

Current 31 March 31 March
' 2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Trade payables ' 8,826 7,185
Other taxes and social security costs : 8,877 8,293
Other creditors ‘ 7,374 3,693
Accruals 48,773 29,959
Deferred income 21,460 408
‘ 95!309 49!548
Non-current 31 March 31 March
2017 2018
£000 £'000
Accruals : 16,679 -
16,679 . -

The camrying value of frade and other payables is a reasonable approximation of the fair value of trade and other
payables.

16. Borrowihgs

Current ‘ 31 March 31 March
2017 2016
£'000 £000

Bank loans and overdrafts ‘ 29,583 25,000

Accrued‘interest _ . 17,395 17,297 .

- 46,978 {2'297

Non-current 31 March 31 March
2017 2016
£'000 - £000

Bank loans ' 130,337 142,735

Other loans 611,710 678,137
: 742,047 820,872

The nominal value of the Group's borrowings at each reporting date is as follows:

31 March 31 March

2017 . 2018

£'000 £000
Accrued interest . 17,395 17,297
Senior term loan notes 160,865 168,750
Fixed rate loan notes ) - 99,573
Shareholder loan notes 297,452 258,654
Connected party loan : 93,352 84,045
Loan from parent entity : 204,166 204,883

| 70 835307
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16. - Borrowings (continued) .
The fair value of the Group’s borrowings at each reporting date is as follows:

31 March 31 March

Weightéd average interest rate on borrowings ‘ 7.80% 8.59%

2017, 2016
£000 £'000
Accrued interest : 17,396 17,297 .
Senior term loan notes ) 159,920 167,735
Fixed rate loan notes : - 122,945
Sharehoider loan notes 344,804 309,465
Connected party loan ' 99,143 90,485
Loan from parent entity : : 167,762 155,242
' ‘ 789,025 863,165
~ The interest rates on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:
Interest rates on variable interest borrowings 31 March 31 March
’ ’ o 2017 2016
% above % above
LIBOR LIBOR
Senior term loan notes 2.15% 2.15%
Connected party loan 10.50% 10.50%
Interest ratés on fixed interest borrowings ' 31 March 31 March
| : g 2017 2016
‘ Fixed rate Fixed rate
} Fixed rate loan notes . 15.00% = 15.00%
Shareholder loan notes ) ' ’ 15.00% 15.00%
’ Loan from parent entity Q.Oo% : 0.00%.
|
|

The Group’s borrowings have the foliowing maturity profile:

31 March 31 March

2017 2016

£000 £'000
Less than one year ‘ - o 105,518 109,656
Two to five years 840,828 948,009

Over five years A - -
- . ‘ 946,346 1,057,755

|
|
|
|
|
‘ ) |
Less intarest cash flows:

Senior ter riotés _ ' o (8,821) (12,722)-
Fixed rate loan notes o . (72,511)
Shareholder loan notes . C (133,8563) {102,125)
Connected party loan- : , : ‘ (30,442} (37,195)
Loan from parent entity : - -
Total principél cash fiows 773,230 833,202

The Fixéd rate 16an, Sharsholder loan and Connected party loans are listed on the Intemational Stock Exchange
- ("TISE?).- On-the-28- Marth-2017-the-Fixed-rate loan-notes. were cancelled. On the 26-January 2017 the.
Sharsholder Loan notes had interest of £38,798,049 capitalised to the loan principal. This résulted in a substantiat
modification of the loan. On the 28 January 2017 the Connected party loan had interest of £9,306,819 capitalised

to the loan principal. This resulted in' a substantial modification of the loan.
The senior temn notes are secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Group.
The Group has undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £40m at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: £10m).
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17.  Provisions

Onerous
lease
provision Total
£'000 £'000
At 1 April 2016 2,557 2,557
Additions ' ' 950 950
Utilised during the year _ (561) (561)
Released during the year : (225) {225)
At 31 March 2017 : 2,724 2,721
Onerous
lease
provision Total
£000 £000
At 1 April 2015 . 3,734 3,734
Additions 13 13
Acquired during the year ' 26 26
Utilised during the year (202) {202}
Released during the year (1.014) {1.014)
At 31 March 2018 2,557 2,557

31 March 31 March

2017 20186

| £000 £000-
Current - ‘ 1,519 1,221
Non-current A 1,202 1,336
Total 27 2,567

The breékdcrwn of provisions between current and non-current is as follows:

The onerous lease provision is a provision for vacant office and studio space that the Group has leased but is not

currently using. The provision is calculated as the difference between the total future lease payments less any

- amounts expected to be recovered by sub-leasing the space. There are inherent uncertainties in measuring the
provisions of the future outfiows. ' '

-
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18. Deferred tax

Property, plant and y . . ]
equipmentand  Tax losses insfmﬁfs' F;i':;";: Other Total
intangible assets

£'000 £'000 £'QDD £'000 £'000 £000

At 31 March 2016 317 908 4,663 (633) 30 . 5,285
Deferred tax assets - 2,245 208 14,085 - 30 17,248
Deferred tax liabilities (1,868) .- {6,432) - (633) - {11,963}
At 31 March 2018 317 908 4,663 (633) 30 5,285

Credltl(d'large) to the income ’
statemert. 4973 {12) {2,583) (65) {19) 2,204
Recognised in other -
compréhéhsivé ifcome ) o ) .7 T a7
‘Acquired in the year (10,543) - - - - (10,543)
At 31 March 2017 (5,253) 896 2,080 {251) 11 2517)
Deforred tax assets 6179 . 856 8,997 - 11 16,075
Deferred tax llabliities {11,424) - (6,917} (251) - {18,592}
At 31 March 2017 {5283) 898 2,080 {251). 11 -i2517)
At 1 April 2015 . 428 - 4 568 (866) . 1,005 5,116
Deferred tax assets : 428 - 17,145 - 1,005 18,578
Deferred tax liabilities - - (12,576) {8886) - {13.462).
At 1 April 2015 428 ) - 4,660 (886) - 1,005 - 5116
Credit/(charme) to the income . ) .
‘ 1,927 a08 04 . 49 (975) 2,003
Reoogmsed in other .. R ’ _
comprehersive income - - 204 204
Acquiréd in the yesr ' (2,038) - - - - (2,038)
At Mamh 2018 317 ) 908 4,663 (633) 30 2285
A i

Deferred tax assets 2215 908 14,095 - 30 17,248
Defermed tax fiabilities . {1,888) - - (8,432) -~ (633) - (11,963}
At 3t Msrch 2018 ) C ) 317 ‘- 908 4h663 (63@ 30 '5i285

_Deferred tax is provided i full on taxable temporary differences under the liability method using applicable tax

rates. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable nght of offset and

_ there is an intention to settie the balances net.

The following table lists the Group’s unrecognised deferred tax ass_ets:
' ' ' 3 March 31 March

© 2007 2018
£000 £'000
Property, plant and equipment s ‘ . ) v - 5,540
Tax losses , . , : 17,288 15116
Financial instrumerts 1,018 -
Other : - 31
‘ ) . Co i 18,308 20,6687

These poterlhal deferred tax assets have not been racognlsed on the basis that it is not sufﬁclenﬂy certain when
taxable profits that can be utilised to absorb the reversat of the temporary difference will be made in the future.

18.  Share capital

31March  31March

2017 2016 .
£ £
Authorised, lssued, called up and fuﬂy paid s s
Ordmary shares of £1 165,309,550 40,166,981

- 48,168,081 -

On 27 March 2017 £1 14 34 383 of loans were cunvert,ed to 114,384,383 ordinary £1 shares which were issued,
called up and fully paid.

* On 13 June 2016 1,375,000 ordlnary £1 shares were |ssued called up'and fully paid for with cash.

On 15 November 2016 383,186 ordinary £1 shares were issued, called up and fully paid for with cash.
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20.  Funding and financial risk management

Financlal risk management

The Group holds and uses financial instruments to finance its operations and to manage its interest rate and
liquidity risks. The Group primarily finances its operations using share capital, revenue and borrowings.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial rigks: market risk (interest rate risk and foreign exchange
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk

The Group is primarily funded by debt. Bank debt has been reduced during the year. The Group’s operations are
cash generative, and a general exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be low. The Group monitors performance
against its banking-covenants on a quarterly basis.,

The Group does not engage in trading or speculative activities using derivative financial instruments.
The canying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. '
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in prices, such as foreign exchange rates and inferest rates, will affect the
Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

interest rate nisk

Interest rate risk is the risk of a change in the Group’s cash flows due toa change in interest rates. The Group has
both fixed rate and fioating rate borrowmgs The ratio of fixed to floating rate borrowings is monitored on an
ongoing basis to ensure that the Group's is not too exposed to vanab:llty in interest rates.

Foreign exchange nisk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of a change in' the Group's cash flows due to a change in foreign currency
exchange rate. The vast majority of the Group's income and expenditure is in pound Sterling therefore the Group
is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk js the risk of financial loss to‘the Group if a customer or counter party to a financial instrument fails fo
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

The directors consider the Group’s credit risk from cash, cash equivalents and deposits to be iow as the Group
only enters transactions with banks or financial institutions with a credit rating of A or above.

The Group has policies in place to manage potential credit risk from trade receivables. The Group mitigates. the
risk of payment default by its customers by the use of trade credit insurance for high value customers. Customer
credit terms are determined using independent ratings agency data and regularly updated to reflect any changes
in customer circumstances or trading conditions. Trade receivables are reviewed on a regular basis by the
‘Group’s credit control department to ensure debts are recovered in full.

The directors do not expect any significant losses of receivables that have not been provided for.
Liquidity risk }
Liquidity rigk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The

Group’s finance department regularly monitors forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs.

Capital Management

The Group relies on capital for organic growth. The Group defines capital as equity as shown in the Statement of
Financial Position plus net debt (total borrowmgs less cash) and seeks to achieve an acceptable retum ©On gross
capital.

The Group manages its capital structure using a number of measures and taking into account its future strategic
plans. Such measures include ensuring the Group maintains sufficient liquidity from the cash that the Group has
generated from operations.

Fair value
Financial assets comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
Financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables and borrowings.

The fair value of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equwalents and trade and other payables is not
materially different from their carrying value.
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20. Funding and financial risk management (continued)

The following table shows the fair value of borrowings, including their value in the fair value hierarchy:

Senior tem notes
Fixed rate loan notes
Shareholder loan notes
Connected party loan 1
Loan from parent entity

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
Call and put options

Fair value
hierarchy

Level 3
Level 3
Level 3
Level 3
Level 3

31 March 31 March
2017 2016
£000 £000
159,920 167,735
- 122,845
344,804 © 309,465
99,143 90,485
167,762 155,242

774,629 - 845.872

The Group has entered in to call and pm options to purchase subsidiary company non-controlling interest
shareholdings for Broadwick Holdings Limited, Waxarch Limited and Victorious Festivals Limited. The fair value of

these options at 31 March 2017 was £nil.

The Group has entered in to a put opbons to purchase sub5|d|ary company non-controlling interest shareholdmgs
for Lock N Load Llﬂ'llted The fair vaiue of this option at 31 March 2017 was £nil.

The Group has entered in to call and put option to purchase the entire share capital of Eleven Limited. The fair '
" value of this option at 31 March 2017was £nil.

A gross liability has been recognised in non-ourrent liabilites and w1th1n reserves for the expected future
settlement of the put options where the Group cumrently has control of the related subsidiary.

21. Non-controlﬂng interests

At 1 April 2016 :

Acquisitions during the year

Share of loss after taxation for the year
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
At 31 March 2017

At 1 Aprit 2015

Share of| proﬁt after taxatmn for the year
Dividénds paid to minority interests a
At 31 March 2016 '

Non- Total
controlling

interests
£000 £000
1,214 1,214
11,633 11,533

776 . 778

{1,395} {1,395)

12,128 12,128
Non- “Total
~ controliing o

_interests )

' £'000_ £'000
1,180 71,180
1177 1,177
(1,143) (1,143)
1,214 1_@14
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)
22. Commitments and cbntingencies

The Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are set out below:
31 March 31 March

2017 2016
£'000 £000
Land and bulldings )
Within one year 6,088 4,242
Between two and five years 19,724 11,536
After five years 5,936 8,663
. . 31,748 24 341

31 March 31 March

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Motor vehicles and equipment :
Within one year . 7 o087
Between two and five years 487 955
After five years - -
' ' 1,238 1,942

The Group's future minimum lease rental income expected to be received under non-cancellable operating leases
is as follows: ‘ ‘

31 Mﬁrch 31 March

2017 2016
£'000 £000
Lease rental income
Within one year 96 96
Between two and five years 335 384
After five years R - 143
o 431 623

The Group leases property, motor vehicles and office equipment. The Group’s leases do not include any material
contingent lease payments, purchase options, escalation clauses or restriction clauses.

* The Group is also a lessor and leases out properiies. These leases do not include any material contingent lease
payments, purchase options, escalation clauses or restriction clauses.
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23. Related party transactions

During the year the Group traded with its associates, joint ventures and with entities with common control to the
Group. All transactions were in the normal course of business and priced under normal trade terms.

The Company's immediate parent company is Global Radio Group Limited (Jersey). Details of loans outstanding
with this entity are given in note 16.

During the year the Company provided £120,000 (2016: £118,000) of goods and services and levied
management charges of £35,000 (2016: £35,000) to the Group's non wholly-owned subsidiary South Hams Radio

Limited. At 31 March 2016 £680 000 (2016: £680,000) was owed by South Hams Radio Limited to the Company.

During the year, the Cqmpany provided £636,000 (2016: £550,000) of goods and services to the Group's non-
wholly owned subsidiary Harlow FM Limited. At 31 March 2017 £954,000 (2016: £858,000) was owed by the
Company to Harlow FM Limited.

During the year, the Company recharged expenses to the Group's non-wholly owned subsidiary MXR Limited
totalling £nil (2016: £14,000), of which £nif remained outstanding at 31 March-2017 (31 March 2016: £nil). MXR
Limited charged the Company £nil (2016: £147,000) for digital radio services. The balance due to MXR Limited at
the year end was £nil (2016: £nil)..

During the year, the Company was charged £1,219,000 (2016; £2,755,000) in respect of digital radio services by
CE Digital Limited, an associated undertaking of the Group, of which £nil was outstanding at 31 March 2017
(2016: £nil). The Company recelved £261,000 (2016 £nil) in respect of legal expertise and englneenng time from
CE Digital Limited. -

Digital Radio Group (London) Limited, an associated undertaking of the Group, operates a digital radio multiplex
and during the year the Company paid £106,000 (2016: £105,000) to this company for transmission services. The
Company had.an outstanding balance owing of £nil at 31 March 2017 (2018: £nil).

Now Digital East Midlands Limited, an associate of the Group, operates dlg:tal radio muh:plexes and during the
year the Company paid £684,000 (2016: £653,000) to this company for transmlssmn services. The Company had
an outstanding creditor of £nil at 31 March 2017 (2016: £nil).

Radio Centre Limited, in which the Group has an investment, is a trade body promotmg commercial radio to
advertisers. Radio Ce‘ntre Limited is funded by levies paid by the commercial radic industry ifi the UK based on
volumes of advertising revenue. During the year the Company paid £1,655,000 (2016: £1,371,000) in levies to
Radio Cent:e Limited and had an outstanding baiance of £nil at 31 March 2017 (2016: £nil).

Globa| Radlo Ser\nces lelted also provides contract accounting services for which it charged £38000 for the
year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: £37,000) to the Group's non-wholly owned subsidiary Independent Radio News
Limited. {IRN), a provider of news services to commercial radio. In addition, the Company's share of the IRN -
rebate to client stations for the year ended to 31 March 2017 amounted to £3,584,000 (2016: £3,574,000). At the
financial year end the net balance due to Independent Radioc News Limited at 31 March 2017 was £1,421,000
(2016: £958,000).

During the year the Group had a number of recharge accounts with various members of the Global Entertainment
and Talent Group, with whom the Group shares a Director. As at 31 March 2017 the outstanding debtor was
£188,000 (2016: £683,000). This has been fully repaid since the year end.

During the year the Company charged. the Globa! Entertainment and Talent Group £40,000 (2016: £40,000) in
respect of occupancy, and Global Entertainment and Talent Group charged the Company £60,000 (2016:
£60,000) in respect of consultancy in the opinion of the Directors, there were no other related party transactions
in the year.

The- Group considers the- directors o be key management personnel. - Related party transactions with key
management personnel have been disclosed in note 6.

In the opinion of the Directors,.thepe were no other related pérty transactions during the year.
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24. Business combinations
During the year the Grdup acquired the following entities:

Name . Date of acquisition Country % Ownership
Count of Ten Limited ’ 4 June 2016 United Kingdom 100.0%
Broadwick Holdings Limited * 2 20 September 2016 United Kingdom 58.6%
Lock 'N' Load Limited ' 3 October 2016 United Kingdom 75.7%
Waxarch Limited . 3 October 2016 United Kingdom 80.6%
Victorious Festivals Limited * 17 October 2016 United Kingdom " 65.5%
Lakeside Creatives Limited 1 21 February 2017 United Kingdom 66.0%
The Hideout Festivals LLP ' 21 February 2017 United Kingdom 80.0%
Global 05699567 Limited ** ' 21 February 2017 Linited Kingdom 100.0%
Moving Music Limited ! 21 February 2017 United Kingdom . - 75.0%

* The Group acquired 49% of the share capital of Broadwick Holdings Limited on 31 May 2016. An additional 2%
of share capital was acquired on 20 September 2018, which was when the Group gained control of Broadwick
Holdings Limited. On 25 October 2016 the Group acquired a further 7.6% of the share capital of Broadwick
Holdings Limited, taking its total shareholding to 58. 6%

** At the time of acquisition Global 05699567 Limited was called Ugly Duckling Investments lelted

' These entities were acquired by Global Festivals Limited

2This entity was acquired by Global Live Limited

The primary reason for the acqmsrtlons was to expand the Group into the Music Festivals market. The goodwqu
has been allocated to the Music Festival's cash generating unit.

The details of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, purchase consideration and goodwill for
each acquisition are not individually material to the Group and have been aggregated as follows:

Falr value
£000
Intangible assets 58,606
Property, plant and equipment 839
Equity accounted investments . (58)
Trade and other receivables : 12,865
Cash < ' 5,844
Trade and other payables (21,139)
. Deferred tax liability ’ (10,543)
Net assets acquired ’ . 46,414
Goodwil ' ‘ , 7.511
Non-controfling interests . (12,779)
Total consideration : 41,1
Satisfied by:
Cash o 31,948
Contingent consideration _ 4,208
Fair value of equity accounted investments . 4,900
‘ 41,145
“

There were no material fair value adjusiments to the aoqulred assets and liabilities. All acqun-ed cash and
receivables are expected to be collected in full.

Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the fair value of consideration and acquired assets and liabilities.
None of the purchased goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. The main factor leading to the recognition of
goodwill was the expected additional ticketing sales and advertising revenue and the expected operational
efficiencies through economies of scale.

The contingent consideration will be calculated as a multiple of adjusted EBITDA in future years, the maximum
amount of the payment is unlimitad.

Acquisition related costs of £1.7m have been charged to administration expenses in the income Statement for the
year ended 31 March 2017.

Since the acquisition dates the acquired entities have contributed £11.7m to thé Group’s revenue. If the
acquisitions had occurred on 1 April 2016 the contribution to Group's revenue would have been around £34.8m.
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25. Share-based payments '

The Group operates equity-setfled share-based payment arrangements as follows:
The Growth Shares Scheme (“the Scheme”)

On 30 January 2015, a number of directors acquired C, D, E and F shares in Global Radio Holdings Limited
(“GRHL") GRHL, for which the directors paid unrestricted market value. The C, D, E and F shares are subject to
a put and call option structure whereby the directors may sell the shares to GRHL, or GRHL may acquire the
shares from the directors for cash, within various 60 day windows between on 1-August 2017 and 30 September
2025. The value at which the shares can be bought or sold shall be determined by a formula based on the growth
in value of the shares over a certain minimum threshold value. The shares provide the holder with an interest in
the growth of the business beyond that threshold, which.has been set at 20% above the original value.

The number of C,D, E and F shares issued in 2015 and oulstendlng at 31 March 2017 was 375,085 (31 March
2016: 375,085).

The EBITDA used to detarmine the value of the C, D E and F Shares will be the EBITDA for the year ended
immediately before the date of disposal.

Share-based payment expense
The charge recognised in the Income Statement in respect of the Scheme was £5,616,000 (2016: £5,499 000)
Share-based payment Hability '

The Scheme requires. the Group to pay the intrinsic value of these share-based payments to the employee at the
date of exercise. The hablllty is re-valued at each reporting date and settlement date with any changes to fait
value being recognised in the profit and ioss account. The Group has recorded fiabilities in respect of unvested
grants of £14,781,000 (2016: £9,165,000).

26. Deﬂned benefit pension schemes’

The Group operates three pension schemes on behalf of its employees The Global Radio Group Personal -
Pension Plan (“GRGPPP’} is: a defined contribution scheme,

All current employees aré eligibié to join the GRGPPP, which new employees are enrolled in automatically wheh
they begin-erpleyment with the Group. At 31 March 2017 1,263 {2018: 1,219) employees were active members
of this scheme. The Group makes age-related employer contributions to the scheme.

The Capltal Radio plc Pension and Assurance Scheme (“CRPPAS’) and the Midlands Radio Gmup Pension
Scheme (“MRGPS") are cantributory defined benefit schemes. Both defined benefit schemes were closed to new
employees from 31 March 1995, At 31 March 2017, the MRGPS had 5 (2016: 7) active mémbers and the
CRPPAS had 4 (2016: 4) active members.

The pension cost charge for the year represents contributions payable by the Group to the schemes and
amounted to £1,748,000 (2016: £1,805,000).

Contnbuhens amounting to £124,000 {2016: £289 ,000) were payable to the schemas at the end of lhe financial
year and afe inciuded in other creditors.

The actual return on the two deﬁned benefit pension schemes assets over the period from 1 Aprll 2016 to 31
March 2017 was a gain of £3,231,000 for MRGPS and £1,802,000 for CRPPAS (loss for the pefiod from 1 April
2015 to 31 March 2016 was £221, 000 and £2,716,000 respectively).

The expected long-term rate of retum on assets assumption is assessed by considering the current lgvel of
retums on risk-free investments (primarily government bonds) and the expectations for the risk premium ‘of each

‘asse Tﬁ§$§~ The ‘Expacted Tt Tor sach asset tlass s then weightsd based on the asset allocation to develop

the expecmed long-term rate of return on assets assumption for the portfolio.
The amounts recognised in the consclidated Statement of Financial Position are as follows

31 March 3 March

2017 2016

7 £'000 £:000

Present value of funded 'obligations , (41,698) (35,867)
Fair value of scheme assets S ‘ . . 43,080 39,301
Surplus in scheme ' ' 1392 3524
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28. Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated Income Statement are as follows:

Current service cost
Interest on obligation
Expected return on scheme assets

Total

Actual return on scheme assets

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation were as follows:

Opening defined benefit obligation
Current service cost

Interest cost

Contributions by scheme participants
Actuarial losses/(gains)

Benefits paid

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows:

Opening fair value of scheme assets
Expected return on assets

Actuariat gains/{iosses)
Contributions by employer
Contributions by scheme participants
Benefits paid

Expenses paid by scheme

31 March 31 March
2017 2016
~ £'000 £000
(164) (187)
(1,314) (1,403)
3,897 1,667
2,419 (33}
- _ .. ——— ]
4,465 (2.927)
31 March 31 March
2017 2016
£'000 £000
35,867 40,808
- 164 . 187
1,314 1,402
14 17
5,306 (1,604)
{967) {4,943)
41,698 35!867
31 March 31 March
2017 2016
£'000 £:000
39,391 45,240
3,897 1,667
568 (2,739)
249 333
21 24
{967) (4,943)
{69) 81)
43,090 395391

The total amount recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of actuarial gains on
assets is £568,000 (2016 loss of £2,738,000) and the amount recognlsed for actuarial losses on liabilities is

£6,364,000 (2016: gain of £1,604,000).

The two schemes are fully funded by the Group and the scheme members who contribute a percentage of salary
The funding requirements are based on the pension fund’s actuarial measurement framework set out in the

funding policies of the plan.

The Group expects to contribute £333,000 to its defined benefit pension schemes in 2018 (2017: £438,000).
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26. Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

The major categories of scheme assets as a percentage of total scheme assets are as follows:

31 March 31 March
2017 2016
Equiies | ' . . 57.68% 39.05%
Bonds _ 33.35%. 32.70%
Diversified growth funds ‘ . 9.00% 28.25%
Pringipal actuarial 'asspmptions at the reporting dates were (expresséd as weighted averages):
| 31 March 31 Maich
2017 2016
Discourt rate | ‘ 2.80% 3.70%
Future salary increases . 3.40% 3.10%
Future pension increases _ : 3.40% 3.30%
Inflation assumption - 3.20% 2.85%
The current mortality assumpﬁons include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates.
The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: ‘
‘3 March 31 March
. 2017 20167 N
. ' Number Number
Retiring today . |
Males ’ : - 213 - 215
Females : ‘ A , 2%.4 29.5
Retiring in 20 years : ) _
Males . : . R 29,2 294

Females 31.4

Amounts for the current and previous year are as follows:

31.5

3 March 31 March 31 March 31 Maich 31 March

2017 . 2018 2015 2014 © 2013
Defined beneftt sbllgaﬂon C © - @es®)  (35867)  (40,808) (33508  (32.602)
Scheme assets - : ' 43000 39,301 44942 39905 37438
Experience !!igﬂums msgmgw« B8 1s4 (@60 &1 @Az
Experisnce adjustents on schema asscis Lo (2.7309) 3,383 (338 2’,[_87;%)

Under JAS .19 both schemes show.a surplus. In accordance with 1AS 19, the Group has recognised an asset on
the Siatement of. Financial - Position: in ralation- to the surplus in the schemes. because- =the Group has an

unconditional right to real:se the surplus during the plan or when the plan is settied.

The Group i$ exposed to a number of risks relating to the defined benefit schemes (the *schemes") including

assumphons not being bome out in practice. The most significant risks are as follows:

Asset volatility

There is a risk that a fall in asset values is not matched by corresponding reduction in the value placed on the
-schemes.- WWMIdeﬁmmdngmm“emmemﬁem comporate-or-

govemment bond yields in the long term, but glves exposure to volatility and risk in the short-term.
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26. Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)
Change in bond yields

A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the scheme’s liabilities, afthough this will be
partially offset by an increase in the value of the scheme's corporate bond holdings.

Inflation risk

The majority of the scheme's liabilities are linked to inflation where higher inflation will lead o higher scheme
liabilities. Some of the scheme assets are either unaffected by inflation or loosely correlated with inflation (eg,
growth assets), meaning that an increase in inflation will generally increase scheme liabilities.

Life expectancy

An increase in life expectancy will lead to an increased value being placed on the scheme’s liabilities. Future
mortality rates cannot be predicted with certainty.

Actuarial assumption sensitivity

The discount rate is set by reference to market conditions at the reporting date, and can vary significantly between
periods. The eamings increases are (inked fo inflation and so set by reference to market conditions at the
reporting date. The mortality assumptions used are set by considering the experience of the scheme’s members,
and by making an allowance for possible future improvements in longevity. Mortality assumptions are difficult to
set accurately, and forecasting rates of future mortality improvement is inevitably speculative.

Actuarial assumption sensitivity

The discount rate, eamings increases and inflation rates are set by reference to market conditions at the reporting
date, and can vary 5|gn|ﬁcantly between periods.

A decrease in the duscount rate by 0.1% will increase the scheme s liabilities by £777,000 (2016: increase of
£667,000).

An increase in inflation and salary growth assumptions by 0.1% will increase the scheme’s liabilities by £301,000
(increase of £256,000).

27.  Note supporting Statement of Cash Flows

Significant-non cash transactions in the year in resﬁect of financing activities comprised unpaid interest which was
capitalised into borrowings of £64,462,000 (2016 £61,510,000) and £114,383,383 (2016: £49,167,980) of ioans

were converted to share capital.
28. Immediate and ultimate parent Company

In the opinion of the directors the Company's immediate and ultimate controlling Company is Globai Radio Group
Limited, a company incorporated in Jersey.

The largest and smallest Group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by Global
Media & Entertainment Limited.

29. Guaranteas, financial commitments and contingent liabilities
Guarantees

The Company will guarantee the debts and liabiliies of certain of its UK subsidiaries at the reporting date in
accordance with section 479A of the Companles Act 2008. The Company has assessed the probability of loss
under these guarantees as remote.-

Security

The assets of the Group are pledged to their bankers as security against loans by way of a floating charge over
the assels.

VAT Group

The Company is a member of a group for VAT for group purposes, resulting in a joint and several liability for
amounts owing by other Group companies for unpaid VAT. )

Financlal commitments

The Group has entered into agreements with transmission supply companles and digital multiplex operators for the
transmission of its radio stations for periods up to 2026 at competitive prices and to ensure supply. At the year end
the commitments to purchase space on transmitters was £127,031,000 (2018: £90,053,000). )
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Company Balance Sheet
At 31 March 2017 o
Company nhumber 06251684

Fixed assets
Investments

Current asseﬁ

Debtors

Cash

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Net current asseiz

| Total asseis iess cumnt llabl!lﬂes

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

- Net liabilities

Equity
Share capital
Retained deficit

The Company’s loss for the year was £1.0m (2016: é40.5m)._

The notes on pages 46 to 53 form part: ofthase ﬁnancual statements

Note

33

35

36

37

3MMarch . 31 March
2017 2018
£'000 £000
92,440 92,440
" 92,440 92,440
418,537 377,513
68 18
418,605 377,531
(50,872) (46,079)
367,733 331,452
480,178 423,802
(742047)  (820,872)

(28187 396,980

165,310

(447,184)

49,187
(446.147)

_(281,874) _ (396,980).

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 July 2017 and

were sngned on its behalf by:
& r T
L
D.D. Singér ‘
Director
31 July 2017




Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2017

At1 April 2017
Loss for the year
Issued in the year
At 31 March 2018

At 1 April 2016
Loss for the year

Issued in the year
At 31 March 2017

Share capital Retained Total equity
deficit
£000 £000 £'000
165,310 (447,184) (281,874)
165,310 (447,184) (281,874)
Share capital Retained Total equity
deficit
£000 £'000 £'000
49,167 (446,147) {396,980)
- (1.037) (1,037)
116,143 - 116,143
165,310 447.184) (281,874)

The notes on pages 46 to 53 form part of these financial statements.
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30.  Accounting policies for the Company financial statements
a) Reporting entity :

Global Media & Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) is an incorporated company limited by shares and
domiciled in the United Kingdom. its registered address is 29 Leicester Square, London, WC2H 7LA.

The Company’s principal activity was the operation of commercial radio stations in the United Kingdom.
The Company financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 31 July 2017.
b) Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard
100 Application. of Financial Reporting Requirements (*FRS 100"} and Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework (“FRS 1017} and the Companies Act 2006.

As permitted by Section 408(2) of the Companies Act 2006 information about the Company’s employee numbers
and costs have not been presented.

As perrmtted by Section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2008, the Company's Profit and Loss Account and
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income and related notes have not been presented as the Company's Group
financial statements have-been prepared in dcoordance with the Companies Act 2006.

¢) Functional and pmenhﬁoml currehcy

These financial statements are presented in pounds Sterling (£), which is the Company’s functional and
presentational currency. All amounis have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

d) Basls of preparaﬂon

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basns and are in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consustently to all periods presented in these ﬁnancla!
statements.

In preparmg these financial statements the company has taken advantage of all disclosure exemptions
conferred by FRS 101. Therefore these financial statements do not include:

certain comparative information as otherwise required by EU endorsed IFRS

certain disclosures regarding the company's capital,

a Statement of Cash Flows;

the effect of future accounting standards not yet adopted;

the disclosure of the remuneration of key management personnel; and

disclosure. of related party transactions with other wholly owned members of the group headed by
Global Media & Entertainment Limited.

*« & & & @ @

In addition, and in accordance with FRS 101, further disclosure exemptions have been adopted because
equivalent disclosures are included in the Group financial statements of Global Media & Entertainment Limited.
These financial statements do not include certain disclosures in respect of: .

« Financial Instruments (other than certain disclosures required as a result of recording financial
instruments at fair value);

= Fair value measurement {other than certain disclosures required as a result of reoordlng financial
instruments at fair value); and

»  Impaimmentorasses

e)  Investments

Investments are included in the Balance Sheet at cost less amounts written-off, representing mpaument in value.
Impairment charges are recorded if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable.

f) Golng concern

At the date of these financial statements, the directors have carried out 2 detailed and comprehensive review of
the business and its future prospects. In particular they have compared the forecast future performancs of the
Company and anticipated cash flows with the available working capital facilities and covenants contained in the
banking arrangements that form part of the Company's cument financing structure and, in the light of current
-economic conditions, have considered.the ability of the group to meet #ts obligations as they fall due, In the
opinion - of the directors, the Company are expected to be able to continue trading within the current
arangements’ and consequently the financial statements are presented on a going concern basis.
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'30. Accounting policies for the Company financial statements (continued)

o) Accounting policies for the Company financial statements

The Company’s accounting policies are the same as the Group's accounting policies, as detailed in note 1 to the
Group financial statements, for the following:

Company FRS 101 accounting policy Group IFRS accounting policy Note
New accounting standards ' New accounting standards 1h
Critical accounting estimates and judgments Critical accounting estimates and judgments 1i
Debtors Trade and other receivables 19 -
Cash . Cash ) 1Ir
Share capital Share capital - 18
Creditors ) Trade and other payables 1t
Interest receivable and similar income Finance income and expense 1v
Interest payable and similar expense Finance income and expense v
Financial instruments Financial instruments ) 1w
Current and deferred tax =~ Current and deferred tax 1%
Revenue recognition _ : Révenue recognition 1bb
Fair value measurement Fair value measurement 1dd

31. Directors ‘
information on Company’s directors is provided in note 6 fo the Group financial statements.
32. Investments

Investments in Total

subsidiary

companies
£'000 £°000
At 1 April 2016 92 440 92,440
At 31 March 2017 . s 92!440 92,440

47



Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements (continued)

32. Investments (continued)

The Company's subsidiaries, including subsidiaries held by indirect holding 6ompanies, are:

Dngltal News Network Limited

R A LR e T

* Exemption from Audit by Parent Guarantee — Entities debts and Iiablhtles are guaranteed by the Company at the

[

United Kingdom

reporting date in accordance with section 479A of the Companies Act 2006.

Name Country % ordinary shar:e capital
ownership
Amber Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Angels in Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Arrow Digital Limited United Kingdom 100
- Atiantic Broadcasting Limited* United Kingdom 100
Beat FM Limited United Kingdom 100
Belfast Radio limited United Kingdom 100
Boardmasters Limited* United Kingdom 87.6
Border Limited United Kingdom 100
Broadwick Holdings Limited* 2 . United Kingdom 58.6
Broadwick Live Limited ? ° United Kingdom 58.6
Bristol Broadcashng Company Limited ~ United Kingdom 100
Bristol Radio Company Limited " United Kingdom 100
Brownstock UK Limited* ' United Kingdom 87.6
" Buzz FM Limited United Kingdom 100
Cambridge and Newmarket FM Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Capital {CDWM) Limited Unitgd Kingdom 100 .
Capital Gold Hampshire Limited United Kingdom 100.
Capital Gold Kent Limited United Kingdom 100
Capitdl Gold Manchester Limited™ United Kingdom 100
Capital Goid Sussex Limited United Kingdom 100
Capital Interactive leited ‘ United Kingdom 100
Capital Online Limited - . United Kingdom 100
CapltalRadm {London) leited United Kingdom 100
CapmatRadlo"Invefstmer_lm L|m|ted' United Kingdom 100
Capital Radio Limited- - ° United Kingdom 100
Capital Radio Restaurants Group Limited United Kingdom 100
Capital Radio Restaurants Limited United Kingdom 100
Capital Radio Trustee Limited ~ United Kingdom " 100
Capital Television Limited United Kingdom 100
Capital Xtra Limited* United Kingdom 100
Castieform Limited United Kingdom 100
Central European Broadcasting Limited United Kingdom 100
Central Region News Limited United Kingdom 100
Champion FM Limited - United Kingdom 100 -
Cheerdale Limited United Kingdom 100
Chill Radio Limited* United Kingdom 100
Chiltern Radio Limited* : United Kingdom 100 ‘
" “Choice FM London Limited ~~ ~ " United Kingdom L
Choice FM North London Limited United Kingdomn 100
Classic FM BV Netherlands 100
Classic FM Limited* United Kingdom 100
Core Digital Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Cotswold Broadcasting Company Limited United Kingdom 100
Count of Ten Limited® United Kingdom 87.6
Deansgats 1001 Limited United Kingdom 100
Dévonair Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Diamond FM Limited United Kingdom 100
100
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" Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements (continued)

32. Investments (continued)

The Company's subsidiaries, including subsidiaries held by in direct helding companies, are:

* Exemphon from Audit by Parent Guarantee Ent:tles debts and liabilities are guaranteed by the Company at the

reporting date in accordance with section 479A of the Companles Act 2008.

‘ % ordinary share capital
Name - Country ownership

Digital Two Limited United Kingdom 100
DQ Radio Services Limited* United Kingdom 100
East Anglian Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Ecast Ventures Limited United Kingdom 100
Electric Elephant Limited United Kingdom 58.6
Essex Radio Limited* United Kingdom 100 -
Expressway Limited United Kingdom 100
Faze Three (East Mldlands) lelted United Kingdom 100
First Oxfordshire Radio Company lerted‘ * United Kingdom 100
FN6 Limited ' United Kingdom 56.7
Galaxy Radio Birmingham Limited® United Kingdom - 100
Galaxy Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Galaxy Radio Manchester Limited United Kingdom 100
Galaxy Radio North East Limited* United Kingdom 100
Galaxy Radio Yorkshire Limited* United Kingdom 100
GCap FRB (No.1) Limited United Kingdom 100
GCap FRB (No.2) Limited United Kingdom 100
GCap Local Data Company Limited United Kingdom 100
GCap Media (CRUD) Limited . United Kingdom ~ - 100

- GCap Media (FPRL) Limited United Kingdom 100
GCap Media (The Jazz) Limited United Kingdom 100
GCap Media Limited United Kingdom 100
Gemini Radio Limited" United Kingdom 100
Glasgow Goid Limited - United Kingdom 100
Global 05699567 Limited* United Kingdom . 876
Global Kit Limited*. - - United Kingdom 52.6
Global Live Limited* United Kingdom - 100
Global Festivals Limited® United Kingdom 876 -
Global Media Ventures Limited United Kingdom 100
Global Music Television Limited* United Kingdom 100
Global Music TV Limited United Kingdom 100
Global Radio {AM) Limited* United Kingdom 100
Global Radio Acquisitions Limited United Kingdom 100
Global Radijo Digital Limited United Kingdom 100
Global Radio Hampshire Limited* . United Kingdom 100
Global Radio Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100
Global Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Global Radio London Limited* 4 United Kingdom 100
Global Radio Media Management Limited* United Kingdom 100
Global Radio Midlands Limited* - United Kingdom 100
Global Radio Publishing Limited* - United Kingdom 100
Global Radio Services Limited United Kingdom - 100
Giobal Radio UK Limited United Kingdom 100
GM Radio News (UK) Limited United Kingdom 55
GMG Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Greater Manchester Broadcasting Company Limited United Kingdom 100
GWR (Local Area) Limited United Kingdom 100
GWR (Trustee Company) Limited United Kingdom 100




- Global Media & Entertainment ‘Limirtedr

Notes to the Company Financial Statements (contmued)

- 32. lnvestments {continued)

The Company’s subSIdtanes mcludmg subsidiaries held by i |n dlrect hoidlng companies, are:

[ ] T PRI N R T 1Y DL S

* Exeffiption i Auarmy Barsfit Giarantde Eﬁﬁ‘ﬁ debi’s*é‘hgil%tbi

[ L L S,

g"‘?é' bifarhnt%“éd by the Cémﬁahy at t'hé

reporting date in accordance with section 479&0?&9 ffﬁl"riﬁé 88 A

% eusinary share capital
. o ,.Nme co""w __ownership
GWR (West) Limited* Umted Klngdom 100
GWR East Holdings Limited* United Kingdom. 100
GWR Group Limited ' United Kingdom 100
GWR Hungary (!nvésﬁnents) Limited ' United Kingdom 100
GWR international Limited United Kingdom 100
GWR New Zealand-Licences Limited New Zealand 100
GWR New Zealand Limited New Zealand 100
GWR Radio {South- East) Limited* United Kingdom 100
GWR Radio lensad United Kingdom 100
‘Harlow FM Limited United Kingdom 190"
Healthbuild Limited * United Kingdom 100. - -
Heart 106 FM Limited United Kingdom 100
Heart Radio Limited’ United Kingdom 400
_ Heart TV Limited ~ - United Kingdom g <
" Hereward Radio Limitéd United Kingdom {0
Hit 40 UK Limited ~ United Kingdom 100
Hopstar Limited* United Kingdom 100
ndependent RadioNws Limited United Kingdom 85
Industrial Curation Einfited United Kingdom 7
Investors in Radio Lﬁ}uted United Kingdom AW :
Invicta Concerts’ and“Promotlons lelteiil United Kingdom 1087
Iradio Limited R United Kingdom fﬁ@*-‘“ ool
Jams of Londen Limited S United Kingdom 106
Juice Holdco Limitéd** United Kingdom [/
Lakeside Creatlves"Ltml‘ted United Kingdom 57.8 -
Lantem Redio um:téd ‘ o United Kingdom gg- " ’
LBC 1152 Limited © e United Kingdom 700~
LBC Radio Limited* i . ‘ . United Kingdom B[
Lelcester Sound Limited* United Kingdom o
Livetime Limited %" United Kingdom e
Lock 'n' Load Eventswt.lmmed - United Kingdom 857
London Broadcasting Company 1996 L!mlted United Kingdom b0
Love FM Limited - United Kingdom 160
Marcher Radio Groiip Limited" United Kingdom 100 ‘
Mid Angha Radm leited’ United Kingdom - 189+
T United Kingdom : A8
MXR-Holdirgs Lmuiéﬂ‘ e e United King8B = -~ -~ o5 o glge oot T sk
MXR Limited " e United Kingdom gg o o
My Kinda Bath leﬂséi'i . United Kingdom SRR [
My Kinda Bones Limitad United Kingdom R AR
My Kinda Shacks tiffled K United Kingdom . g
My Kinda Square Liftiited United Kingdom e T T
Neal Street Blues Lifrfted " United Kingdom 106’* . T
Newsradio.com Linitdd e UniEE KinGasH" R i R
_ North East News Litfited Cers 0 United Kingdom R [+ JEER R I
- North East Radio Lfrﬁfad S R United Kingdom 06
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements {continued)

32. Investments (continued)

The Company’s subsidiaries, inciuding subsidiaries held by in direct holding companies, are:

% ordinary share capital
Name Country ownership
North West News Limited United Kingdom 100
Now Digital (North Wales, Wirral and Cheshire) Limited United Kingdom 100
Ocean FM Limited United Kingdom 100
Opus Radio Sales Limited United Kingdom 100
Orchard FM Limited* United Kingdom 100
Orchard Media Limited United Kingdom 100
Oval (709) Limited United Kingdom 100
Plymouth Sound Limited* United Kingdom . 100
Pop Buzz Limited * ' United Kingdom 100
Power FM Limited United Kingdom 100
Prock Licence (NTLRSL) Limited United Kingdom 100
Pure Butter Limited ? " United Kingdom - 51
Radio Breeze AM Limited United Kingdom 100
Radio Broadiand Limited”* United Kingdom 100
Radio Invicta Limited™ United Kingdom . 100
Radio Mercury Limited* United Kingdom 100
Radio Orwell Limited United Kingdom 100
Radio.Runner Limited United Kingdom 100
Radio South Limited United Kingdom 100
Radio Trent Limited* United Kingdom 100
RAM FM Limited United Kingdom 100
Real and Smooth Limited* United Kingdom 100
Real Radio (North East) Limited* United Kingdom 100
Real Radio (North West) Limited” United Kingdom 100
Real Radio (Scotiand) Limited* United Kingdom 100
Real Radio Limited” United Kingdom 100
- Rewind Festival Limited" United Kingdom 87.6
Riviera Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Rock Radio Limited " United Kingdom 100
Saxon Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
SBH Events-Limited 2 United Kingdom 58.6
Scott Place 1002 Limited United Kingdom 100
Scott Place 1003 Limited United Kingdom - 100
Scott Place 1004 Limited United Kingdom 100
Smooth Digital Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
Smooth Radio Investments Limited* United Kingdom 100
Smooth Radio London Limited* United Kingdom 100
Smooth Radio Scotiand Limited* United Kingdom 100
Smooth Radio West Midlands Limited* ~ United Kingdom 100
South Hams Radio Limited United Kingdom 63.5
Southern Radio Group Limited*” United Kingdom 100
Southern Radio Limited* United Kingdom 100
Storm (GWR) Limited United Kingdom 100
Storm Broadcasting Limited United Kingdom 100.
. Suffalk Group Radio Limited* United Kingdom 100
Tainside Limited* B United Kingdom 100
Thames Valley Broadcasting Group Limited ’ United Kingdom 100
Thames Valley Broadcasting Limited” United Kingdom 100

* Exemption from Audit by Parent Guarantee — Entities debts and liabilities are guaranteed by the Company at the
reporting date in accordance with section 479A of the Companles Act 2006,
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- Global Media & Entertainment Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements (continued)

32. Investments (continued)

The Company s subsidiaries, mciudlng sub5|d|anes held by in direct holding companies, are:

_ % ordinary share capihl
Name Country ownershlp

Thamesquote Limited” United Kingdom 100
“The Arrow (Liverpool) Limited United Kingdom 100
The Arrow (Manchester) Limited ) United Kingdom 100
The Digital Radio Group (Investments) Limited* United Kingdom 100
The Digital Radio Group (West Midlands) Limited " United Kingdom - 100
The Digital Radio Group Limited™ United Kingdom 100
The Hideout Festival LLP - , United Kingdom 70
The Milton Keynes Broadcasting Company lelted United Kingdom 100
‘The Northamptonshire Broadcasting Company. Limited United Kingdom 100
The Storm (Digital Radio) Limited United Kingdom 100 -
"Truck Festivals UK Limited* ! United Kingdom 878
TS Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100 .
Two Counties Radie Limited* United Kingdom 100
Victorious Festivaig Limited United Kingdom 57.4
Vibe FM Limited United Kingdom 100
Warrington Runcomn Broadcasting Campany lelted United Kingdom. 100
Waxarch Limited United Kingdom 70.6
We the Unicoms Limited* United Kingdom 100
Welovelocal.com Limited* United Kingdom 100
West and South Yorkshire Radio Limited United Kingdom 100
West Country Broadcasting Limited - United Kingdom 100
West Midlands Radib Limited United Kingdom - 100
Westward Radio Litnited United Kingdom 100
Waestward Television Limited United Kingdom 100
Wiltshire Radio Lirpited , United Kingdom 100

- World Television Productions le:ted United Kingdom 100 -
Xfm Limited* . United Kingdom 100
Xfm Manchester Limited* United Kingdom 100
¥ Not Festivals UKLLimited* !  United Kingdom

8786

o Exemptron from Auqht by Parent Guaran En debts and liabiliies are guaranteed by the. (;ompan atthe
reporhng date in acédrdance with secﬁ'bﬁ %ﬂ. mompames Act 2006 : v

 Purchased as pajt of the Count of Ten traﬁsacaon (note 25).
2 Purchased as| pali of the Broadwick Holdi,ngs Limited transaction (note 25).

The Company's subs:dlanes all have a. year end qf 31 March 2017, with the exception of Lock N Load Limited and
Waxarch Limited, wh:ch have yearends qf 30 September 2017. -

The Company’s subswdjanes reglstered address is 30 Leucester Square London, WGZH 7LA vath the exoeptlon of
the following entities; ‘

: ,pompany . Registered Add@n )
Classic FM BV -Naarderpoort 2, 1411MA, Naarden, The Netheﬂands
Glasgow Gold Limited " 1"West Regent Street, Glasgow, G2 1RW
GM Radio News (UK) Limited A’cademic House 24-28 Oval Road, London NW1 TDJ
GWR New Zealand Licences Limited ' .10 Brandon Street, Wellington; 6011, Nevi Zealand
GWR New Zealangl Limited 10 Brandon Street, Wellington, 6011, Ne Zgaland |
Independent Radlo News Limited 1 West Regent Street, Glasgow, gz 1Rw S ' -
Real Regly (Scotlend) | imiteq. - -1 est Bagent Stmer. Glosgow G2IRW. . . .. ... -
Rock Radio Limited . 1\West Regefit Slrdet, Glasgow, G2 1RW - T

Smooth Radio Scotland Limited 1 West Regent Street, Glasgow, G2 1RW
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements (continued)

33. Debtors
31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£'000 £000
Loans to subsidiaries 367,313 367,313
Amounts owed by group undertakings 49,143 5,537
Deforred tax asset ‘ 2,080 4,663
418,537 377.513

The loans to subsidiaries are repayable on demand and incur a 6% annual interest charge.
34.  Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £'000
Bark loans and overdrafts 29,583 25,000
Accrued interest 17,395 17,184
Amounts owed to group undertakings 3,894 3,895
— 50,872 46,079

35. Creditors: émounts falling due after more than one year

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£'000 £000
Bank loans ] 131,282 142,735
Other loans _ _ 610,765 678,137
742,047 820,872

36. Share capital

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

: £ ' £
Authorised, issued, called up and fully paid
Ordinary.shares of £1 165,309,550 49,166,981
165!309!550 49!166!981

On 27 March 2017 £114,384,383 of loans were converted to 114,384,383 ordinary £1 shares which were issued,
called up and fully paid.

On 13 June 2016 1,375,000 ordinary £1 shares were issued, called up and fully paid for with cash.

On 15 November 2016 383,186 ordinary £1 shares were issued, called up and fully paid for with cash.

37. Related party transactions

As disclosed in note 23 and in accordance with the exemptions in FRS 101 the Company is not required to
disclose related party transactions with key management personnel or betweert members of the Group. The
Company has not completed any related party transactions with any other entities or parties.

38. Immediate and ultimate parent Company
in the opinion of the directors the Company’s immediate and ultimate oontrollmg Company is Global Radio Group
Limited, a company incorporated in Jersey.

The largest and smallest Group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by Global
Media & Entertainment Limited.

53






